

Ján Závadský



The process-based organisation and its performance in the era of intelligent technologies The process-based organisation and its performance in the era of intelligent technologies

Ján Závadský

The process-based organisation and its performance in the era of intelligent technologies

WSB University

Scientific review: Associate Professor Eng. Ph.D. Beata Ślusarczyk

> Publisher: WSB University Cieplaka 1c 41-300 Dąbrowa Górnicza Poland www.wsb.edu.pl tel. +48 32 295 93 59

© Copyright by the WSB University All rights reserved. Dąbrowa Górnicza 2021

ISBN 978-83-66794-34-4 ISBN 978-83-66794-35-1 e-book

Typesetting and cover design: Jadwiga Popowska

Printed in Poland by TYPO Usługi Wydawnicze





"The project is funded under the program of the Minister of Science and Higher Education titled "Regional Initiative of Excellence" in 2019-2022, project number 018/RID/2018/19, the amount of funding PLN 10 788 423,16"

Contents

Pr	eface	7	
1.	Pro	cess-based organisation	
	1.1.	Business process management integration	
	1.2.	Business process management maturity	
	1.3.	Business process model	
	1.4.	Empirical research fucused on utilisation of business	
		process model	
		I	
2.	Bus	iness process performance management system	
	2.1.	Static model of business process performance	
	2.2.	Dynamic model of business process performance	
	2.3.	Attributes of process performance indicators	
	2.4.	Empirical research focused on consistency of business	
		process performance	
3.	Increasing business process performance using intelligent		
	tech	nologies	
	3.1.	Industry 4.0 as an assumption of business process performance 66	
	3.2.	Intelligent technologies and main value-added business processes 67	
	3.3.	Empirical research focused on utilisation of intelligent	
		technologies in production processes	
4.	Exi	gency of improving business processes	
	4.1.	Industry 4.0 indexes and maturity models	
	4.2.	New Industry 4.0 necessity index	
	4.3.	Empirical research focused on gap analysis based	
		on the Industry 4.0 necessity index	
С	onclu	sion	
Re	eferei	nces	

Primal adaptability ensures the survival of a species. In essence, it concerns the reproduction and adaptation of genetic material passed on to the newly formed organism (system). Adaptability at the level of the genetic code is a phenomenal and unique mechanism. The ability to modify the structure of DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) guarantees an organism the system of adaptability to ever-changing environmental conditions and the survival of the species as a whole. Secondary adaptability is the ability to adapt to current environmental conditions and to restore internal structures and processes using the self-regulatory mechanisms of each organism. Unlike in living systems, **there is only the possibility of secondary adaptability in an enterprise**, when a company responds to an unbalanced state in order to restore the balance. The basic mechanisms for maintaining equilibrium are the **innovative activity** of stakeholders involved in processes, **targeted optimisation of processes' performance**.

The assumption that social systems are not balanced raises the question of how to find an optimal internal organisation of a company and to define processes in a way that ensures the business performance goals. If we know the business performance goals, we should ensure the development of processes that lead to its fulfilment. An answer to the question of how to optimally organise a company's management system can be found in the effectiveness of management, which means the ratio of the amount of one's own energy, time, and expenses to achieve the company's objectives and the results represented by the fulfilment of these objectives. An important aspect of a management system is its orientation. The orientation of a management system is determined by defining the structure of the company in which business processes take place. There are three basic types of orientation of a company's management system. The first one is the functional orientation, where the basic structure of management consists of line managers and organisational units entrusted to them. The second type is **process-based management**, where **the basic structure consists of process** owners and the company's processes entrusted to them. The third type is based on the process type. It is a project-based management system in which the management structure consists of project managers and unique projects assigned to them.

The answer to the question of why the process-based management system is preferable to the functional one is quite simple. Three basic mechanisms of secondary adaptability (targeted optimisation of processes' critical points, measurement and evaluation of processes' performance by a system of indicators, and the innovative activity of the stakeholders involved in processes) can only be effectively applied if the management system is process-based.

Process-based management is a complex and difficult issue. Establishing such an approach to organisational management requires a very complex change which is impossible to perform at once. It is also impossible to perform it as a single managerial decision with the use of just managerial power. Such a change is a longterm evolutionary process which ought to be carefully managed.

Business Process Management (BPM) can be integrated into a company's management system in two ways. The first alternative is to transform a functionallybased management system into a process-based one; the other alternative is available when setting up a new company, which creates a process-based management system right from the beginning. The process approach is applied in process-based management systems after the integration of process management. This brings about the process-based management of companies. In this case, it is necessary to identify all of the main and supporting processes in order to create an obligatory business process model and to define all its outputs as applied in practice.

Nowadays, the integration of BPM relies heavily on intelligent technologies. Intelligent technologies are an elementary part of new concept called Industry 4.0. Developing business processes according to the concept of Industry 4.0, we consider technological and organisational innovations that are based on the informatisation, digitisation, automation, and integration of the business system inside and outside. All intelligent technologies are based on digitisation, computerisation, and automation.

Industry 4.0, referred to as the fourth industrial revolution, is becoming part of business life and fundamentally influences the quality of business processes and products. In particular, intelligent technologies that are indispensable in this revolution play a dominant role. Intelligent technologies as a basic element of Industry 4.0 especially fit in with series and mass production of cyclically repeated processes and material products. There are, however, industries that only manipulate a material product without transforming the product. This is a particular concern of logistic enterprises. There is no definite manual for configuring intelligent technologies for all industries, because their integration always depends on a specific production or logistical system. The main objective of this scientific monograph is to describe the theoretical aspects of business process management and process performance management and to analyse the utilisation of the business process models and intelligent technologies in business practice. The secondary output of this monograph is a new index for calculating an Industry 4.0 exigency in manufacturing companies.

Our theoretical approaches are **strengthened through several empirical studies** that we conducted in the last few years. The partial results of our empirical research was published in many journals, but we have not yet published them in this comprehensive form. This book links the production processes and intelligent technologies. We focussed on production processes as a part of the value-added activities which are usually under the indirect pressure of customers and suppliers, and for which enterprises primarily use intelligent technologies.

1. Process-based organisation

During the nearly 20 years of this approach's existence, thinking in terms of business processes became a regular part of organisation management practice. Nevertheless, Business Process Reengineering and Process-Based Management means much more than is regarded in ordinary managerial praxis. First of all, it is a real paradigmatic change in the theory of management. The complexity of this shift in paradigm makes putting it into practice not very easy; moreover, it is not easy even to understand the fundamental idea of this approach. Due to these facts, the full implementation of ideas of process-driven management are very rare. Most stories about using process-based thinking accent only marginal aspects of this approach, such as the partial improvement of evidence, reductions in time and costs, automating agendas, etc., without the real fundamental change in doing business, which is the real substance of the idea. On the other hand, there is no business area where the implementation of Process-Based Management cannot bring dramatic improvement. Hammer and Champy (1993) indicated two main characteristics which should be regarded as the essence of the idea of processorientated management:

- The main critical reason for this approach is the need to make the organisation flexible enough to be able to change its internal behaviour according to changes in the environment. This may include not only changes in customer preferences and needs, but also in the possibilities of satisfying them, which typically result from the development of technology.
- The main critical consequence of the above-mentioned main reason is the change in the concept of business organisation from a strictly hierarchical one to a collaborative one.

Once this reason is fulfilled and the organisation shifts from a formerly hierarchical to a collaborative style of behaviour, the organisation can be regarded as being managed in the process-orientated manner. Nevertheless, such a change requires many partial changes in all areas of the life of the organisation, each of which can be regarded as critical. Moreover, the mutual relationships among these areas generate other consequential problems to solve. In the following section we outline and briefly discuss this complexity from the three essential perspectives.

Figure 1.1 shows how the three essential problem areas are connected within a process-based organisation. All three example viewpoints are factored together to address all the substantial parts of the organisation's life: content, technology, and people. Each particular point of view is characterised by typical questions which should be answered by the methodology in that field.

Figure 1.1 Service as a common denominator of the content, technological, and human aspects of the organisation's management



Source: Závadský & Řepa (2014)

Process-orientated management represents the basic idea of a process-based organisation, expressed excellently by Hammer and Champy (1993) and originally called 'Business Process Reengineering'. This idea argues for the fact that the organisation has to build its behaviour on an objectively valid structure of its business processes to be able to fully exploit the possibilities offered by the progress of technology. This condition is typically not fulfilled in traditionally managed organisations where a hierarchical organisation prevents managers seeing, as well as managing, the crucial process chains which should be the main subject of changes stemming from the progress of technology. In order to achieve the necessary ability to fully exploit the new technology, the traditional hierarchical way of management should be rejected and substituted with a management style based on the objectively valid model of the organisation's business processes. Realising such an idea nevertheless raises the following questions:

- Which structure of the system of processes supports the process-orientated management of the organisation?
- How can key and supporting processes in the organisation be identified?

In order to make an organisation flexible enough towards the possibilities of progress in technology, one should firstly find the 'right' structure for the system of the organisation's business processes. This means at first identifying the key processes which characterise the organisation, and then according to these processes reorder all necessary supporting activities as supporting processes. The key business process is such a natural process chain that covers all aspects, from the initial need of a customer to the fulfilment of this need with the appropriate product or service. Nevertheless, the above definition does not mean that the key process has to include all the activities necessary to deliver the product/service. It only has to cover all the process, i.e. to manage it using the services of supporting processes to ensure the necessary productive activities/processes on the way to the final delivery. In such a way the key process represents the management side of every business case, whilst the supporting processes represent the production side. In the process of creating the basic structure of internal business processes in an organisation by deciding about the border between the key and supporting processes, the concept of service plays the role of a universal separator. It provides the meaning of the border between management and production. This idea of a service-driven technique for creating the basic process structure of an organisation is a key concept of Methodology for Modelling and Analysis of Business Process (MMABP), which was described in more detail by Repa (2011).

Cooperation is a crucial problem in the process of building the system of processes. Once the basic structure of the processes is decided, the details of their particular relationships should be analysed in order to harmonise the cooperation with the internal structure and the contents of each process. Structural harmony means the synchronisation of the internal process run with the run of the other processes (collaboration between process owners/managers). Content harmony means taking each cooperation point as an act of communication between the two processes. Considering this cooperation point as a service, one can think of them as dimensions in a harmonious whole: service always means delivering the right product in the right time. An analysis of the detailed cooperation of business processes naturally brings up the following questions:

- Why and how should processes in an organisation cooperate?
- How should their cooperation look, in terms of time and quality?

As argued above, the cooperation of processes always means communication between them. The need for cooperation follows primarily from the mutual positions of both processes. According to the above-mentioned MMABP methodology, and consistent with the ideas of process-based management, there are only two correct reasons for the existence of the process:

The purpose of the key process is based on added value creation: it is given by the fact that this process represents the direct way of satisfying a need of a customer, which is the universal mission of any organisation. A key process always represents the direct service to customers.

The purpose of the supporting process is given by the services by which this process supports other processes.

Any cooperation between processes always means providing a service, either directly for the customer or indirectly by supporting other processes. MMABP methodology contains the technique for designing the cooperation structure of processes via 'internal outsourcing' of producing process chains from the key processes. This natural way of providing basic support for processes is created, and cooperation is established along with the basis of the structure of processes in the organisation.

For bringing the system of business processes to life, it is necessary to create the necessary infrastructure. There are two main kinds of infrastructure, representing two main resources in an organisation: technological infrastructure, which represents the aspects of automation, and organisational infrastructure, which represents the people aspects of the organisation's behaviour. As the main goal of the process-based management of the organisation is to make it principally and permanently flexible, its infrastructure also needs to be flexible. Thus, there are two crucial questions to answer regarding the implementation of a process-managed organisation:

- How can a flexible organisation be organised permanently?
- How can the information system of a permanently flexible organisation be designed?

In Řepa (2011), the methodology for designing a process-based organisation was presented. The last step in the procedure, called 'Building resulting infrastructures' is based on the work with the structure of services identified in the previous steps.

Services are identified as a general meaning of the relationships among business processes – their mutual cooperation. The details of every service are described in the form of a Service Level Agreement (SLA) and are used in the last step of the procedure as a common basis for creating all required infrastructure: organisational as well as the information system. The organisational structure of the organisation is then built directly on the structure of competencies derived from the mutual competency relationships of the processes which are defined in their common SLA. Therefore, the rights and responsibilities of managers and regular attendees of both processes directly follow from the needs of the processes. This way, the organisation's structure is flexible and exactly in accordance with the flexibility of the processes.

Similarly, the structure of the information system is derived from the mutual relationships of processes which are defined in their common SLA. The SLA defines all necessary products of the service and specifies their quality and timeline, which is a perfectly sufficient basis for deciding about the necessary functionality of particular parts of the information system. Business processes represent the rules of business behaviour. Each process runs as a workflow with customer specifications. Workflows are the integral parts of an enterprise information system. The workflow management system is thus a basic condition for making the organisation's information system flexible enough in terms of the main principle of a process-based organisation.

The common intersection of all three viewpoints is characterised by the concept of **service**, which represents their universal common meaning. The concept of service, as it is discussed above from all three viewpoints, represents a common denominator of the content, technological, and human aspects of the organisation's management.

1.1. Business process management integration

Business process management (BPM) is a type of management in a process-based organisation. BPM can be integrated into the business management system in two ways. The first alternative is to transform the management system from functional to process-orientated, and the second alternative takes place when a new company is being set up, which will create a process-orientated management system from the beginning. Both alternatives have a fundamentally similar procedure. The integration of BPM represents the implementation of the following stages:

- identification of existing business processes within functional organisational units in the case of transforming from a functional to a process-orientated management system;
- selection of business processes included in the process model of the management system/design of business processes included in the process model of a newly established company;

- 13) categorisation of business processes according to the selected criteria;
- 14) determination of responsibilities for business processes (process owners);
- 15) selection of the methodology for analysing and modelling business processes;
- 16) selection of the technological support for BPM;
- 17) analysis and modelling of the business processes and their activities and interactions;
- 18) allocation of resources to business process activities;
- 19) identification of existing indicators of operational and strategic performance, in the transformation from a functional to a process-orientated management system/design of a group of indicators for the operational performance of business processes in a newly established process-managed company;
- 10) identification of the relationship between the business process and the strategic goals of the company;
- 11) identification of interfaces between processes and draft in-house service contracts;
- 12) creation of a business process model of the management system;
- 13) definition of the outputs of the process model which are applicable in management practice;
- 14) approval of the process model and determination of its binding force;
- 15) use of the business process model in management practice.

The process approach is applied in process-orientated business management systems after the integration of business process management, when we talk about process-driven companies. In such a case, it is necessary to identify all the main and supporting processes, create a binding process model of the company, and define all its outputs applicable in practice. However, there is also the possibility of applying the process approach in isolation and independently of the integration of business process management. It follows that the process approach can be applied to solve specific business problems, related in particular to the detection and optimisation of critical points and the improvement of business processes. An isolated application of the process approach in the control system does not change a functional orientation to a process one, because the boundaries of the control and managed system remain the same. Analysing selected processes is helpful in improving them.

By the integration of business process management, we therefore understand the creation of a process-orientated business management system. An easier alternative is creating a new management system in an emerging company, when the design of business processes is not limited by the existing organisational structure and it is not necessary to take into account the needs of line managers. In companies where business management systems are functionally orientated, transformation is a more demanding process. Cienciala et al. (2011) mentioned several barriers posed by such

a transformation, including a lack of will to change, a fear of losing job positions, insufficient communication of the expected effects, and insufficient interest from top management.

The identification of existing business processes within functional organisational units is the first step in transforming a functionally-orientated management system. Process identification is the elaboration of a list of all processes that are carried out in the company, regardless of their boundaries by organisational units.

The next integration step is the **selection and design of business processes** included in the process model of the management system. The process model of the management system contains a description of all business processes and objects and the outputs from the process model can be used in the management practice of the company.

The categorisation of business processes serves to distinguish the importance of a given business process and, according to the criterion of value added, they are usually divided into main and supporting processes.

A fundamental integration step of process management is the **determination of responsibilities** for business processes in the form of process owners. In business practice, we often encounter a combination of functional and process orientation. Business processes are divided into smaller sub-lines, which is not hierarchically contrary to the principles of process management, but their boundaries then copy the boundaries defined by functional organisational units. The benefit is the application of a process approach and of a process model in management, but the complexity of process coordination increases with the number of interfaces, where it is necessary to define agreements on internal services.

The choice of methodology for analysis and modelling of business processes and of technological support for business process management are methodologically important for the integration of process management. These two stages significantly affect the future process model of the process-orientated business management system.

After selecting a suitable methodology, the business processes are analysed and modelled. **Process modelling** is not considered by many authors to be the main content of implementing process management, although it is the most timeconsuming. Košturiak (2010) spoke critically of process modelling as a dominant activity, according to which many companies have spent a huge amount of time and money describing processes and implementing various programmes. The expected results are often not achieved because no process diagram or project management programme has yet been able to improve the internal organisation of the company. At present, information systems have an irreplaceable role in the modelling and analysis of business processes. Informatics is a scientific discipline from which a number of modelling methods and tools have been taken over and developed. The business process is the intersection between the design of an information system that will effectively ensure the information needs of managers and the achievement of business performance.

Management's and information technology's views on business processes show Řepa (2006), Polák et al. (2003), and Carda and Kunstová (2003). We consider one of the most significant studies of late to be the comparative analysis by Recker et al. (2009), who compared methods of business process modelling. According to them, process modelling must be used as much as possible in the whole company as a method that draws attention to all or selected business processes as a prerequisite for the decomposition of organisational complexity. When analysing business processes, resources are also allocated to business process activities.

The **allocation of available resources** is a prerequisite for their unambiguous assignment to specific activities of specific processes, from which it is possible to create job descriptions and specifications, or even organisational rules. The allocation of resources (objects) and the determination of their cost also form the basis for the application of an objective calculation of indirect costs using the Activity-Based Costing (ABC) method. Staněk (2003) dealt with the use of a process approach to cost management.

After resources are assigned to process activities comes the creation of a relatively separate part of the model – a set of **performance indicators** that follow the business processes. The **identification of existing operational and strategic performance indicators** is performed to compile a list of all performance indicators that are used in the company to measure operational and strategic performance. After they are identified, a group of indicators of operational performance will be proposed and included in the process model of the management system. Each indicator should have a consistent group of properties defined, which Učeň (2008) called indicator attributes.

An important aspect is the identification of the **relationship between the business process and the strategic goals** of the company. This step is sufficiently described in the literature on the strategic system for measuring and evaluating the performance of companies called the Balanced Scorecard. In the case of integrating process management, it is important to determine which indicators will be used to measure and evaluate the achievement of process goals, whether the implementation of the process also contributes to the fulfilment of strategic goals and which personal goals of employees are derived from the strategy goals.

The identification of interfaces between processes and the drafting of inhouse service contracts is a critical step, as these contracts or their equivalents determine the transitions between the interfaces of several business processes. As stated by Řepa (2012), the interface of each of the two processes means a need of outgoing business process and a service delivering of previous business process. Technically, it is the same relationship as the company's relationship with the customer. The general form of the description of the business process is thus an analogy of the SLA, which then defines the clear powers and responsibilities of the individual actors in the process. In this way, each element of the system has a clearly defined role flowing directly from the respective processes and through them with potential changes. The whole system is thus perfectly flexible.

A process model of the management system is created as a result and integration of the previous steps. The process model is a simplified representation of a processorientated control system, which coincides with the real system in essential properties. The process model, which was created by analysis and modelling of business processes and their properties, becomes a representative of the process orientation of the management system. The correctness of the previous steps is a prerequisite for the successful use of the process model in management.

Defining the outputs of the process model applicable in management practice depends on the needs of the company. The basic outputs include the determination of responsibilities and powers classified as process owners and operators, where the process owner is responsible for the course and compliance with the outputs of the process and the operators are responsible for the performance and outputs of individual activities.

Responsibilities are differentiated according to the activities and processes identified, and from the process model it is possible to (1) create job descriptions, organisational procedures, and guidelines, (2) determine superiority and subordination and to create an organisational and competence order of the company, (3) learn the status of fulfilling strategic and operational objectives, which is indicated by a set of indicators included in the process model so that each process has a clearly assigned performance indicator and possible follow-up to the strategic objective and process model allows reporting on current business performance, and (4) learn the status of implementation and development of ongoing processes.

The real integration of business process management ends by the approval of the process model and the determination of the extent of its commitment to all stakeholders. The last stage of the implementation is the utilisation of the process model in management practice for achieving the strategy and operational goals. Utilisation of the process model in management practice allows to each process owner actively influences employees involved in the process or, when it comes to technical equipment, management processes.

1.2. Business process management maturity

The application of maturity models is sometimes identified with the concept of a process audit (Hammer, 2007). Such a broad understanding of maturity model use is mainly based on the scale, namely how many aspects of a process-based management system we are considering. Maturity models have been reviewed by some authors in detail and their individual criteria have also been compared. Palmberg (2010) compared Goncalves' maturity model, Lockamy and McCormack's model, and Hertz's maturity model. All of them focussed primarily on defining processes, measuring and evaluating performance and improving processes, the organisational structure of company, mutual communication, and information security of processes.

Almost all maturity models are based on the Capability Maturity Model (CMM). Another maturity model which is often cited in the literature is Fischer's model, which integrates five dimensions – strategy, control, processes, people, and information technology. In each of these dimensions the level of process management is defined by the limited expansion in the company, integrated at the tactical management level, managed by company-wide optimisation processes, and part of the intelligent hierarchical network. A set of specific measures is defined in a matrix where the rows and columns meet the dimension and the level of dimension. Indicating the current status (where we are) and the desired state (where we want to get) creates the equivalent of a roadmap specifying the direction of development for process management and business processes.

Závadská (2013) critically reviewed a relatively large number of different maturity models for evaluating business process management and business processes in her paper. She listed a number of models that have been identified in managerial practice:

- 1. PEMM Hammer's Process and Enterprise Maturity Model (2007)
- 2. 8 Omega a model by the Business Process Transformation Group (2007)
- CAM-I PBM Assessment a maturity model of business process management from the International Consortium for Management (2007)
- 4. BPM Maturity Framework a model by Gartner Inc. (2006)
- 5. Rosemann and Bruin's maturity model (2006)
- 6. Fischer's model of BPM maturity (2004)
- 7. Lockamy and McCormack's model (2004)
- 8. Hertz's maturity model (2001)
- 9. Goncalves's maturity model (2000)

Based on the analysis of the available literature, we can characterise the maturity model according to Michael Hammer, which is most often cited or reviewed by different authors and which we consider to be easily applied. It brings quick results in the improvement of process-based management systems and business processes.

Hammer (2007) stated that organisations need to ensure that their business processes become more mature, i.e. that they are capable of delivering better performance over time. To realise this, organisations need to develop two kinds of characteristics: **Process enablers**, the characteristics of individual processes, and

Enterprise capabilities, the characteristics of the entire organisation. The particular level of maturity of the organisation depends on quality of its processes according to their particular characteristics (Process enablers) together with the characteristics of the enterprise itself (Enterprise capabilities).

Hammer recognised five process enablers:

Design - how comprehensively it is specified how the process is to be executed

Performers - people who execute the process with their skills and knowledge

- **Owner** includes the responsibility of the appropriate proper senior executive for the process and its results
- **Infrastructure** how well the process is supported by the information and management systems

Metrics – indicators which the company uses to track the process' performance The **Enterprise capabilities** are as follows:

Leadership - how well the senior executives support the creation of processes

- **Culture** the values of customer focus, teamwork, personal accountability, and willingness to change
- **Expertise** includes the methodology for process redesign together with the skills for using it
- Governance addresses the mechanisms for managing complex projects and initiatives

Hammer created the system of evaluating an organisation's maturity level by evaluating the above-mentioned characteristics and taking into the account mainly the fact that the overall quality of the organisation is a complex characteristic where process enablers as well as enterprise capabilities express the necessary conditions for the quality, not the whole quality.

Thus, the particular level of maturity requires the proper quality of all process enablers together with all appropriate capabilities of the enterprise. The maturity of processes therefore should go hand in hand with the enterprise capabilities and vice versa. These levels can be characterised as shown in Figure 1.2:

- 1. Traditional management At this level the notion of processes already exists in the organisation, but the meaning of the concept of 'process' is still not clear nor commonly accepted. The consequences of this state are that the constructed processes still cover only fragments of the whole business case (i.e. real key process), the actors emphasise only partial/local improvement and their personal contribution in the traditional organizational structures, the infrastructure is still fragmented according to the traditional organizational structure, and the metrics used and their usability are limited by this fragmentation.
- 2. Activities as parts of processes This level brings the process-orientated view of the organisation's activities. Every particular activity is a part of some process

which expresses its contextual value. The process represents the basic criterion, value, and the common denominator for all definitions, descriptions, behaviour, approaches, and attitudes of the actors, and is the main subject of the organisation of infrastructures and metrics.

- **3. Organisation as a system of processes** At this level every process is principally regarded as just a part of the process system of the organisation. The basic criterion, value, common denominator for all definitions and descriptions, behaviour, approaches, and attitudes of actors, infrastructure allocation and metrics are organized from an enterprise level. All target values and the meanings of all activities are related to the organisation. Particular processes are principally seen in a shared context.
- 4. Organisation as a part of the process system of the market At the highest level all processes are seen not just in the context of the organisation, but in the context of their target meaning for customers. Thus, all particular decisions principally reach past the boundaries of the organisation towards customers as well as co-operators. Consequently, the structure of processes follows the overall context of customer needs. The behaviour, approaches, and attitudes of actors are targeted at the values provided outside the organisation. Infrastructure is organised to respect the professional and technological standards in order to be principally compatible with the infrastructure of customers and co-operators, including an adequate conception of the metrics used and their permanent link to the strategy.





Source: Závadský & Řepa (2014)

We propose a unique attribute for process-based organisation (PBOA) that can help organisations to achieve business excellence (BE). The aim of the PBOA is

- 1) to define the basic terms and concepts of business process management
- 2) to describe selected maturity models of process-based organisations
- 3) to define requirements for process-based organisations as the process audit criteria
- 4) to determine the general procedure for the audit of the process-based management system and issuing and renewing certificates
- 5) to create conditions for the implementation, maintenance, and development of process management in organisations

This PBOA establishes attributes for the management system and process model of organisation regardless of the content of business processes, their interactions, and outcomes. It serves as a foundation for verification of a process-based management system and for **setting more detailed milestones for its further development** as a basis for maturity management. Maturity management, based on PBOA, has four stages following the acronym **PECA**. Be a **Process-based** organisation in accordance with the PBOA; achieve **Equilibrium** by the three mechanisms of adaptability: (1) innovative activities of the process stakeholders, (2) a process performance management system, and (3) optimisation of the critical points discovered by process analysis; **Check** the BPM maturity according to the PBOA; and **Act** in case the C_{apo} is lower than 90%. We developed C_{apo} as an index representing quantification of the capability to implement, maintain, and innovate a management system based on the process approach.

The PECA steps are integrated to the PBOA as its requirements. Our proposed PBOA contains these sub-attributes:

- 1. Awareness of the principles of business process management
- 2. Responsibilities and competences in the business processes
 - 2.1. Responsibilities and competences of top managers
 - 2.2. Responsibilities and competences of process owners
 - 2.3. Responsibilities and competences of workflow managers
 - 2.4. Responsibilities and competences of process executors
- 3. Business process model and its content
- 4. Description of business processes and activities
 - 4.2. Description of business processes
 - 4.3. Description of activities
- 5. Measurement and evaluation of business processes
 - 5.1. Properly time of the measurement and evaluation of business processes
 - 5.2. Definition of the relationships among business processes through SLAs
- 6. Innovation of business processes

- 6.1. Target optimisation of business processes
- 6.2. Audit of the business process content
- 6.3. Innovation of business processes through measurement and evaluation
- 6.4. Innovative activity of process owners and process executors
- 6.5. Innovation of process-based management system
- 17. Change management in a process-based organisation
 - 7.1. Starting points of process change
 - 7.2. Project of process change
 - 7.3. Changes in the business process model
- 18. Requirements of the information system for a process-based organisation
- 19. Organisational standards behind the business processes
- 10. Internal regulations for making the business process management as obligatory

When defining the **requirements for awareness of process management**, we took Hammer's PEMM as a basis and we focussed on how the company is supposed to create conditions for developing process management at all corporate levels. There were two basic groups of employees (process owners and process executors) defined in **the requirements for the competences and responsibilities in business processes**. We also defined their responsibilities and competences in meeting the objectives and outcomes of a given process.

The requirements for the business process model can be defined as all the necessary elements of the process model which the company should include and describe in the model in order that the process management can become obligatory for the company. We identified requirements which set possible requirements for processes and activities in the description of business processes and activities in order to make them understandable to all stakeholders and so that they can be implemented, ensured, and developed based on this description. We took as the basis the well-known information about the measurement and evaluation of performance which is available in the literature on setting the requirements for measuring and evaluating the performance of business processes.

We formulated these requirements in the context of a process-based management system. When formulating **the requirements for business process innovation**, we based it on the systems approach to innovative development of a company which is itself based on three innovations: the innovation of processes after the organisational audit, the innovation of processes as a result of measuring and evaluating performance, and the innovation of processes as a result of the innovative activities of stakeholders. The **requirements for change in management in a process-based organisation** are defined as those related to the implementation of specific changes. Although these requirements do not describe specific changes, we state how the company should proceed with their implementation and follow the innovation of business processes. We propose the **requirements for the information system for a process-based organisation** in terms of developing information technology for the direct and indirect support of process management and business processes. We do not mention specific information systems or application software, we only specify the minimum requirements for their functionality. **The requirements for organisational standards** behind the processes are defined as a way for company to include organisational standards into a process model in order to avoid violating the principle of the unity of management.

The PECA steps are integrated to the PBOA as its requirements mainly because of the sustainability of process management after its introduction into a management system. This way the management system cannot spontaneously modify itself from process-based to functionally-based. This is especially true in cases when the process orientation was achieved through a transformation from the functional orientation.

To check the maturity means to do a process audit according to the PBOA. We propose the C_{apo} index for quantifying an organisation's maturity. The rating assigned to each point is a combination of the extent of compliance with the requirements of the PBOA and the scope of its description in the process model or organisational standard behind the business process model. There are nine combinations for evaluation which may arise in process audits. They are listed in Table 1.1.

Points	Evaluation
10	The requirement is completely fulfilled and is fully described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model.
8	The requirement is completely fulfilled and is partially described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model. The requirement is completely fulfilled but is not described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model.
6	The requirement is partially fulfilled and is fully described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model. The requirement is partially fulfilled and is partially described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model.
4	The requirement is partially fulfilled but is not described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model. The requirement is not fulfilled but is fully described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model. The requirement is not fulfilled but is partially described in the process model or in an organisational standard behind the business process model.
0	The requirement is not fulfilled or described in the process model or in an organisatio- nal standard behind the business process model.

Table 1.1. Scale for PBOA fulfilment

Source: Závadský & Řepa (2014)

The quantitative capability of the organisation to implement, maintain, and innovate a process-based management system is given by the total degree of process orientation C_{ano} . The values of capability are provided in Table 1.2.

Tuble 1.2. Values of the degree of process offentation				
C _{apo} [%]	Verbal evaluation			
90-100	Process-based management system of organisation			
60-89	Combination of functionally- and process-based management system of orga- nisation			
0-59	Functionally-based management system of organisation			

Table 1.2. Values of the degree of process orientation

The audit of the process-based management system and evaluation of the scale of fulfilment of requirements and their descriptions, as stated in Table 1.2, serve as foundation for determining the overall level of a process-based management system – C_{apo} – a quantification of the capability to implement, maintain, and innovate a management system based on the process approach according to the formula:

$$C_{apo} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{apo}^{i}}{n} \quad [\%]$$

$$\tag{1}$$

in which the C_{apo}^{i} is a partial degree of fulfilment of the selected attribute of PBOA, while i=1, 2, ..., n and $n \in (1, 10)$. The partial degree of fulfilment of the selected attribute can be calculated using the following formula:

$$C_{apo}^{i} = \frac{C_{i}}{M_{i}} 100 \ [\%]$$
 (2)

in which C_i is the total number of points scored by evaluating compliance with standards in the ith attribute, and M_i is the maximum number of points that can be achieved through implementation of the ith attribute of the standard.

The audit thus results not only in the determination of the level of process orientation, but also in a detailed identification of specific strengths and weaknesses connected with the identified state. This information should be exploited to focus the further development efforts in terms of the general principles of the organisational maturity model. In this way, the organisation gains a powerful tool for designing sophisticated strategies for further action of organisational development under the rules of the maturity model. At the same time each audit also brings important experience which should be used for the improvement and further development of the standard itself. This ensures that even the standard has the same dynamics as all other aspects of a process-based organisation. In our opinion and according to our experience implementing the ideas of process-based management, there is no danger that we will find our idea of 'maturity-based organisational development' completely wrong.

1.3. Business process model

If a company claims to have implemented a process approach, the proof can often be a developed business process model. A business process model is a managerial system model, which includes all of the company's processes. Every process includes a set of activities; every activity is described by the attributes of the process and every process attribute can be parameterised by its performance indicators. The extent of business process models can vary from company to company.

The development of the process models and their utilisation in the management of companies is interdisciplinary. It is here where Information Management (IM), BPM, and Quality Management (QM) meet. On the one hand, we have the development and the extent of the process model being created, whilst on the other hand we have its utilisation in managerial practice for ensuring its quality.

The extent of the process model depends on the number of elements which can be modelled. It represents the structure of the company's system. The utilisation of the process model in management also depends on the output of the process models which managers use both in operations and strategic management. If the enterprise has created the process model and uses it in management, there must also exist a level of dependence between the extent and the utilisation of the model. In order to identify this dependence, we use correlation analysis, just as it was used by Safari et al. (2012), for example, in their examination of the relationships between people criteria and people results in the EFQM Excellence Model. The diversity of process models has its causes, which we have tried to discover in our research.

The business process model represents the process orientation of the managerial system which can be achieved by applying the process approach. The process approach is a part of the majority of quality management systems.

Gutiérrez et al. (2010) presented different alternatives for quality management implementation, such as the EFQM model, the ISO standards, the Malcolm Baldrige model, or the Six Sigma methodology. The difficulty with implementing each initiative varies from case to case. Saizarbitoria et al. (2011) evaluated the impact of both the ISO 9001 standard and the EFQM model. The process model can be different, if the company developed it during the application of ISO 9001 or EFQM model.

We consider the ISO 9001 standard to be a suitable initiative for creating the process model. This has also been proven by Sampaio et al. (2009), who highlighted the huge importance that ISO 9000 certification has for companies around the globe.

Three disciplines – BPM, QM, and IM – meet in the development and utilisation of the process model. In our survey we focussed on the utilisation of process models from the QM point of view. The process model can increase the effectiveness of the quality management system (QMS) in different areas. The results reported by Wu and Chen (2011) indicate that ISO certification has a significant effect on a company's performance. A well-developed process model can ensure this, and therefore its creation can be one of the internal incentives for ISO 9001 certification. Sampaio et al. (2010) stated that the internal incentives for ISO 9001 certification are related to genuine organisational improvement goals. These include internal communication and process performance. Just as the development of the process model can be a motive for implementing QMS, it can also assist with tearing down the barriers to its implementation. These barriers were described by Hoonakker et al. (2010).

Even a well-developed process model does not necessarily ensure that it will actually be used in practice. This decision lies with the managers. More management involvement in quality efforts and continuous process improvement are the most obvious and valued benefits of certification (Gotzamani, 2010), as well as from following the process model in managerial practice. If the determination of the company's processes is the analogy of the SLA, then the whole QMS is completely flexible. The process model can then clearly define the areas of competence, as well as the responsibilities of managers and of the employees. If the process model is sufficiently used in managerial practice, then the benefits of ISO 9001 certification should not diminish, as stated by Karapetrovic et al. (2010).

The utilization of the process model depends on the way it was created. Business process modelling has become fundamental for modern enterprises due to the increasing rate of organisational change. One major problem associated with the design of business processes is reusability. Reusing business process models has the potential to increase the efficiency and effectiveness of BPM and QMS (Aldin & Cesare, 2011). A comparative analysis of business process modelling was provided by Recker et al. (2009). Business process modelling usually brings a complex view on business processes. We can create many different process models according to the different modelling standards. Process maps as a graphical interpretation does not help in management practice. Managers need more than the static view on business processes. The real business process management allow to manage processes and to achieve the real business goals. We believe that a good process model offers a lot of possibilities for using it in managerial practice. Developing business process models is obviously part of system design. System design is often overlooked as one of the most important aspects for ensuring that everyone in an organisation understands how they can contribute to its success, and thereby improve their own performance and job satisfaction. Suitable interrelated process diagrams make this easier (Cardwell, 2008). Hung et al. (2007) examined the adaptability of companies in managing core processes related to organisational process alignment, and particularly their potential for generating superior performance. There are even information systems which are able to optimise future executions of the business processes.

Ihaddadene (2008) described the techniques and tools which allow persistent information about the business process model to be extracted from event logs in order to incorporate them in the decision-making system and to optimise future executions of the business processes. It is an IM view of the business process model development. A similar view of the development of process models was offered by Strnadl (2006), Yang and Lin (2008), Blockley (1999), and Nagel et al. (2011). A comprehensive review of BPM and operations management was provided by Ponsignon et al. (2012). They examined whether process design principles derived from best practices are universally applicable to service firms.

Based on a comparative analysis, we can define the business process model as a model of the managerial system, which includes processes, activities, and their interactions in the form of inputs and outputs, organisational boundaries, resources necessary for processes, and a state transition condition related to outputs and inputs. But the use of the process model depends on managers' needs. The process model should enable them to classify processes by their importance, determine the responsibility for processes and activities, limit processes by organisational boundaries, determine the process equipment for each activity in the process model, describe activities directly in the business process model, describe the variability of processes by the 'if-then' rule, determine strategic relationships between strategic goals and business processes directly in the process model, measure process performance after the end of processes by a set of performance indicators in the process model (*ex post* measuring), measure process performance in real time by the set of performance indicators in the process model (measuring the running processes), simulate processes directly in the business process model, and track the processing of individual customer demands (workflow system).

The utilisation of business process models, not only in companies certified to the ISO 9001 standard, can be evaluated by business process maturity models (BPMMs). Various authors have proposed BPMMs to gradually improve maturity and capability (Looy, Backer & Poels, 2011). The application of the maturity models is often identified with the term **process audit** (Hammer, 2007). Palmberg (2010) compared the maturity model created by Goncalves et al. to the one by Hertz.

1.4. Empirical research fucused on utilisation of business process model

We performed an empirical study in companies certified to the ISO 9001 standard. The sample selection was based on the assumption that some certified companies had developed business process models as a representation of their quality management system. This model may have been developed due to the implementation of a quality management system. Our decision to explore the process models was based on the fact that this model is often only declared - that is, companies develop a process model, but it is not fully used by the management. Even if it is used, then the number of actual possibilities for its use varies. According to the Slovak Statistical Office, at the time of our research 16.7% of all registered businesses in Slovakia were certified. The database provided by the certification bodies included 1,012 companies. The questionnaires were filled in electronically and they were publicly accessible. During the research period, 419 questionnaires were returned. Of those respondents, 202 companies stated at the beginning of the questionnaire that they had not developed a process model due to the implementation of their quality management system. Of the remaining 217 questionnaires, 24 were discarded due to incomplete data. The final study sample consisted of 193 enterprises. Expressed as percentages, we can say that the response rate was 41.4%. The business process model was developed in 51.7% of the companies which responded. In order to explore the extent of the business process models, we defined a set of 10 elements (E1-E10) which should be included in the business process model. We used a questionnaire in order to ask the companies whether their business process model includes the following elements:

- business processes ^{E1}
- flowcharts for each determined process E2
- outputs and inputs for each determined process E3
- o outputs and inputs for each activity included in the given process flowchart E4
- a database of the companies' human resources E5
- a database of process equipment E6
- organisational structure ^{E7}
- organisational standards created from the business process model E8
- a database of external documents E9
- a database of performance indicators related to each process E10

The first element is the business processes. According to the ISO 9001 standards, a company should define the processes needed for their managerial system. The second element of the process model should be flowcharts defined for each process included in the process model. Although defining the flowcharts is not yet a guarantee that the process will be realised accordingly, it is a supposition of the stability of each process.

No flowchart can fully describe the variability of the process, but it creates a tool for the enforcement of managerial decisions. The third and fourth elements of the process model are the inputs and outputs of processes and activities. Defining these elements is very important in the management of companies. Inputs and outputs are used in order to secure the smooth running of the process. The significance of this factor in management lies in understanding what should be gained through a given activity and process. The output of a company's activity is the partial goal, whilst the output of the process is the main goal. Of course, the set of performance indicators must also be defined.

The determination of inputs and outputs is the foundation for the SLA concept, in order to create a system of internal suppliers and customers. The fifth element which should be included in the process model is the database of human resources. We consider this a key element in terms of managerial practice. A human resources database enables each employee to be assigned the activities of one or more processes. The situation is very similar with the sixth element of the process model on the questionnaire, which is a database of the process equipment. The next element is a database of the organisational units created from the organisational structure of the company. This element is not necessary, but it enables us to sort out the results of the process model is the organisational standards: both the internal and the external ones. In the case of the internal ones, the organisational standards must be created with the process model in mind. In this way duplicity in administration can be avoided.

A database of the external documents determining the process should also be included in the company's process model. The last of these minimally required elements of the process model in our research is the set of performance indicators. Every process in the process model should have a performance indicator defined for it. If the process performance indicator also measures a strategic goal, we call it a key performance indicator (KPI).

All of the companies structured according to the number of their employees include the first element in the process model. This result of 100% was expected, since it is one of the requirements for ISO 9001 certification. Similarly, the result of 100% respondents was expected in case of the performance indicators, because indicators are an integral part of process models according to the ISO 9001. On the other hand, the element E10 was declared by only 38.9% of the respondents. Based on this value, we randomly chose 50 companies from the sample file of 193, and we explored whether they monitor and measure their processes.

All 50 companies reported that they do. In the questionnaire we also asked whether the companies have a database of performance indicators in their process model. The result was 38.9%. If we had asked them whether they measure their

processes, the result would have been 100%. We focussed on the business process model and its elements, and 61.1% (100% – 38.9%) of all companies monitor their processes by performance indicators outside the process model.

According to the data shown in Figure 1.3, flowcharts for each determined process were created by 85.0% of the companies. Relatively high values were also found for the categories of determining the outputs and inputs of processes (94.8%) and determining the outputs and inputs of activities (71.0%). Approximately half (49.7%) of the business process models contained a database of organisational units; a database of human resources is included in almost half of the business process models researched (47.7%). A database of process equipment was a part of the process model in 31.6% of the companies surveyed. As a reminder, we would like to stress the fact that we did not research companies' fulfilment of the requirements set by the ISO 9001 standard. Every company which was examined has the process equipment because they have to ensure the availability of resources (clause 4.1.e of ISO 9001). We researched the process model and its elements. One third (33.7%) of the business process models we researched contained a database of organisational standards generated from the model, whilst only 7.3% included a database of external documents.



Figure 1.3. Percentage occurrence of process model elements

After discovering which elements are included in the business process models of the companies which were surveyed, we also explored their possibilities for the actual utilisation of the business process model in managerial practice. Each of the elements in the model creates a supposition for management. The utilisation of the process model consists of 21 options (U1–U21):

- classify processes by their importance ^{U1}
- determine the responsibility for processes ^{U2}
- limit processes by organisational boundaries ^{U3}
- revise processes in the process model after innovation ^{U4}
- determine the responsibility for each activity in the process model ^{U5}
- determine process equipment for each activity in the process model ^{U6}
- determine the duration of activities in the process model ^{U7}
- describe activities directly in the business process model, if they are unable to create the description as a flowchart ^{U8}
- describe the variability of processes by the 'if-then' rule ^{U9}
- create job descriptions from the business process model U10
- create job specifications from the business process model ^{U11}
- create organisational guidelines from the business process model ^{U12}
- create norms of material consumption from the business process model ^{U13}
- create time-related norms from the business process model ^{U14}
- create other organisational standards ^{U15}
- determine the strategic relationship between strategic goals and those business processes which are directly in the process model, if such a relationship exists ^{U16}
- measure process performance after the processes by a set of performance indicators in the process model (*ex post* measuring)^{U17}
- measure process performance in real time by a set of performance indicators in the process model (measuring the running processes) ^{U18}
- simulate processes directly in the business process model ^{U19}
- track the extent to which the individual customer demands are processed (workflow system)^{U20}
- determine the responsibility for the administration of the business process model ^{U21}

The utilisation of a business process model in managerial practice strongly depends on obligation. Three of the questions in our questionnaire were related to the application of a business process model in managerial practice. Companies could either respond that a business process model as a whole is obligatory for management, partially obligatory, or only informative. If it is obligatory as a whole, then it is applied in managing the company. On the other hand, if it is merely informative, the company does not apply it to manage itself or its processes. In the case of it being partially obligatory, companies have developed a business process model, but some of its parts (some processes) are only informative, whilst other parts of the model are obligatory for management. The business process model was obligatory in managerial practice for 25.4% of the companies and partially obligatory for 29.0% of the companies surveyed. The business process model was of an informative nature in 45.6% of the companies surveyed.

All of the companies had determined the responsibility for their processes, whilst 87.6% of them had classified the processes by their importance. The processes are usually classified by the added value for the customer, depending on whether they play a main or supporting role. It is important for management to recognise the priority processes. Responsibility for the processes was defined in all of the companies which were sampled. It is one of the requirements of the ISO 9001 standard, and our research was conducted in ISO 9001-certified companies, so this result was expected.

Organisational boundaries determined from the database of organisational units were used by 46.1% of companies. We found this not very gratifying result whilst exploring whether companies revise their processes in the process model after innovation. Only 25.4% of them revise the processes in their process model. We looked for the cause of this in a correlation between the process model elements and their utilisation in managerial practice. We found that if the company determines the responsibility for administrating the business process model, then they are able to revise the processes after each innovation. In 72.2% of large companies it is the administrator of the process model who is responsible for its maintenance.

When it comes to determining the responsibility for each activity in the process model, 39.9% of companies do so. We consider this result insufficient, because it is impossible to assign employees from the database to a specific activity, which impacts the management's efficiency. Up to 83.3% of large companies had defined the employees' relationship to the activities; in terms of the element of process equipment, the result was 26.4%. In management it is relevant to assign process equipment to activities even when the company already uses Activity Based Costing. This, together with the allocation of human resources, makes the cost calculation of activities much simpler. The duration of activities had been defined in 19.7% of the companies surveyed, whilst 51.8% of them had described their activities directly in the business process model, if they were unable to create the description as a flowchart. This relatively high value is due to the fact that many companies resort to describing their activities instead of modelling them. In some cases, the variability of the process is so high that using methods other than a detailed description of activities is not possible. A high value was also found in the element regarding the 'if-then' rule: 83.4% of companies use this rule in flowcharts since it enables the process to be branched.

The exploration of creating organisational standards from the business process model was divided by the type of standards. Companies mostly use the process model for creating job descriptions (23.8%), organisational guidelines (30.1%), and time norms (21.2%). Other documents created by companies in this case included job specifications (7.8%), norms of material consumption (4.7%), and other organisational standards (6.2%).

Process performance was measured and evaluated by the majority of the companies which were surveyed. Most of them (52.8%) measured process performance after the end of processes by a set of performance indicators in the process model (ex post measuring). Very few enterprises (7.8%) simulated their processes directly in the business process model. About one quarter (26.4%) of the companies determined the strategic relationships between the strategic goals and business processes directly in the process model, if such a relationship existed. Not only is the classification of processes into main and supporting ones important for management, but the determination of their relationship with the strategic goals is also significant. Only then are these processes truly significant for managers. Tracking of the scope of the processing of individual customer demands (workflow system) and measuring of process performance in real time by a set of performance indicators in the process model (measuring the running processes) were each conducted by 11.4% of the enterprises surveyed. We explored which elements are included in the companies' process models (Závadský & Závadská, 2014). Following this, we explored which of the possibilities for utilising the process model in managerial practice are most common. The results revealed that businesses have different elements in their process model, and that they also use this model to manage different situations.
2. Business process performance management system

Every social system in a company is target-orientated. The internal structure and internal processes are ordered for the best fulfilment of the stakeholders' objectives. Every unit and process is managed by a manager, and the managers are part of a management system. The management system serves to coordinate all the business units and processes in order to achieve the business objectives. Based on the internal organisation of the company as a system, we can distinguish three main orientations of the enterprise management system. The first is functional orientation, where the basic structure of management is the line managers and the organisational units entrusted to them. The second type is process orientation, which forms a basic structure of process owners and the business processes entrusted to them. The third type of process emanates from a project-management system, which forms the management structure of project managers and their unique projects. Regardless of the orientation control system, there is always a management subsystem (line managers, process owners, or project managers) and the managed subsystem (employees). The difference is where the structure of the management and core processes take place. All types of orientation management systems have their advantages and disadvantages, and the choice mainly depends on the size of the company, the complexity of core processes, and the degree to which they are automated.

To maintain a balance in the company, as indicated in the introduction, it is necessary to achieve a consistent definition of the company, not only as a whole but also its subsystems. One of the subsystems of the enterprise management system is the performance management system (PMS); a process performance management (PPM) is realised through its PMS. Consistency of the performance management system was described in the works by Ferreira and Otley (2009) and Flapper et al. (1996). However, we are not looking for a definition of PMS in our monograph – we rather want to set the premises for consistent PMS from the systemic theory point of view. This assumption is based on a homogenous group of attributes of the performance indicator (PI). In this book we want to answer to two basic questions: What are the attributes of the PI and what is the minimum set of attributes of the PI? We sought answers to these questions through empirical research conducted in Slovak companies certified to the ISO 9001 standard.

Flapper et al. (1996) presented a systematic method for designing a consistent performance management system to be used in practice where explicit attention is paid to the relations between the PIs. With a consistent performance management system (PMS), they designed a system that covers all aspects of performance relevant to the existence of an organisation as a whole. Such a system should offer the management quick insight into how well the organisation is performing its tasks and to what extent the organisation's objectives are being achieved. The method consists of three main steps: (1) defining performance indicators, (2) defining relationships between performance indicators, and (3) setting target values or ranges of values for performance indicators. Ferreira and Otley (2009) described the structure and operation of performance management systems (PMSs) in a more holistic manner. Berry et al. (2009) produced a broader literature review of management control publications.

A performance management system can be defined in many different ways, for example as a management control system (Bisbe & Otley, 2004; Chenhall, 2003; Chenhall & Euske, 2007; Otley, 1994). Another point of view is that a PMS is a strategic view, primarily described in the literature by Kaplan and Norton (1996, 2000, 2004). A critical view of their publications was presented by Otley (2008). Chenhall (2005) also referred to the integrative strategic performance measurement system. In the literature we are confronted with three important terms: (1) management control system, (2) performance measurement system, and (3) performance management system. From our point of view, the exact type of system is not important because we can find a performance indicator in each of them. PIs are the subject of our research, especially the attributes of them that need to be defined.

Another aspect of PMS is the excellence models that include requirements for measuring and evaluating performance efficiency. There are a number of these models. Evans et al. (2012) explored how to further improve and achieve higher levels of performance in accordance with the Malcolm Baldridge Award. Abdullah et al. (2012) presented a conceptual framework for the development of a value-based total performance excellence model (VBTPEM) in organisations. This model signifies the core values as a strategic component for an organisation to achieve total performance excellence and this extension integrates the intangible parts of performance measurement that have become a pivotal issue in many organisations.

An interesting work was presented by Doeleman et al. (2012). Their study dealt with the moderating role of leadership in the relation between management control as part of total quality management (TQM) and business excellence in terms of purposive change. Their results also indicate that transformational leadership is the most influential factor in the relation between the management control construct and purposive change. They concluded that organisations are strengthened by using a management control system in combination with an intensive management communication approach in a context of transformational leadership.

Wang (2012) presented a literature review which indicates a lack of an appropriate framework for evaluating organisational performance (OP) during crises. He identified key OP indicators and then developed a multi-dimensional framework for evaluating OP during crises. Alfaro-Saiz et al. (2011) described how to use the information gained from applying the EFQM Excellence Model to analyse the perception that the members of an organisation have of it regarding their business vision. Heras-Saizarbitoria et al. (2012) presented an empirical study of the relationships between the categories of the EFQM model.

There are several views on performance. Again, the starting point of our research is not a description of PMSs. We are dealing with the homogeneity of any of these performance systems whose basic element is the PI.

2.1. Static model of business process performance

The subsystem of business process management that is process performance management can be extracted as a separate system of management that keeps integral relations with other subsystems within precisely defined areas. It is not necessary for a manufacturer to apply the philosophy of process management to its fullest extent. If process performance is a priority – at the operational or strategical level – it is enough to implement only a system of process performance management with a strictly determined internal structure. The content of process performance management is as follows:

- generation of a process performance management structure
- measurement of process performance
- evaluation of process performance
- increase in process performance

Each discipline in management, even such a version that is to be applied in a specific, problematic area of business economic life (production management, innovative management, marketing management, etc.), also employs basic management functions: planning, organisation, leadership, and control.



Figure 2.1. Static model of process performance management

A similar situation can be seen in the case of process performance management, where it is necessary to consider these management functions in each of its parts. Apart from them, cross-sectional fields of management – information management and decision-making – are also established, and they cover all the parts. Figure 2.1 presents the basis for PPM, which can be defined as the management of business processes and their activities with a view to achieving the required performance of an organisation at the strategical and operational levels.

PPM begins at establishing its internal structure – that is process identification – prioritising and generating process attributes along with the indicators that relate to performance at the strategic and operational levels as well. Minimal requirement for process performance management is existence these four aspects: (1) business process, (2) business process attribute for setting up the indicator, (3) performance indicator and (4) performance level (stategic or operational). Process measurement and evaluation has characteristics which must be defined so that the entire system of measurement is consistent.

Each indicator should be described in the same way. After process measurement and evaluation comes the last part of PPM – increasing it. In each of these phases basic management functions are applied along with informatics and decision-making. This represents a model of a process performance management system.

This static model is the basis for a dynamic model of process performance management. It is meant to define PPM so that it is possible to capture changes in the structure of the static model. If the business process system was defined as an open dynamic system, its subsystem – process performance – is also subjected to continuous changes. The basis for process performance change is a change in different factors that influence the process as a whole. Figure 2.2 shows the spiral which represents time changes of business processes.

Figure 2.2. Business process life cycle





This spiral form can vary. In general, the diameter d of individual spiral levels should be reduced. This phase occurs due to the fact that the duration of a process that is being repeated in two consecutive spiral levels is reduced. It means that the following relation is accepted:

$$d_1 > d_2 > \dots > d_i > \dots > d_n \tag{3}$$

A similar trend can be noticed when the distances *s* between spiral levels are shortened. This is due to the fact that an interval of start of two equal and repeated processes is reduced. Also, the following relation is valid here:

$$s_1 > s_2 > \dots > s_j > \dots > s_m \tag{4}$$

This is not a permanent state, however. Process reduction is determined by different factors. It can be the application of more advanced technologies, rapid innovation transfer, or intense pressure from the competition or customers to speed up business activities. In this situation, the above-mentioned relations are valid. If there is a critical situation in a business, the opposite situation can arise, whereby diameter *d* and distance *s* increase. One possibility when diameter *d* increases and distance *s* decreases, or vice versa, is also acceptable. The spiral form of business processes depends on many factors. The following section presents the characteristics of a static PPM model so that it is possible to identify the basic conditions of changes and at the same time apply PPM principles.

The application of process performance management follows two assumptions: the existence of the content of PPM being reflected in a static model and the existence of changes in PPM being reflected on a dynamic model of process performance. The methodology behind its application integrates both models into a compact procedure. Process performance management involves identifying and prioritising the processes, measuring the performance of the processes, evaluating the performance of the processes.

2.2. Dynamic model of business process performance

The basic structure of the model that results from a static one, yet also describes its dynamic aspect consists of four dimensions:

- 1) importance of the business process
- 2) complexity indicator rate
- 3) fulfilment rate of the required objectives
- 4) performance level

The importance of the business process determines the ability of the process to add value. This value includes two aspects: value for the owners and value for the customer. From the point of view of value for the customer an operational level of business performance is important, but when value for the owners is being created strategic performance level is more important. Based on the value creation criteria, processes can be divided into core processes and supporting processes.

The criteria of the indicator complexity rate determines two basic groups of indicators. The first one involves process performance indicators concerning attributes of the process; in terms of forming them they are quite simple and it is not difficult to combine them. For example, the indicator of process activity duration is uniquely identifiable and simple. A more complex indicator is one of the proportion of a particular process activity in forming added value for the customer. This indicator is more complex, but is still a process performance indicator because process PIs evaluate performance directly. The second group involves overall performance indicators, but they result from different assumptions of their formation. A good example would be indicators resulting from business results as a whole, e.g. financial indicators. Also, within this group are more and less complex indicators. Overall performance indicators evaluate process performance indirectly, and they cannot be assigned directly to a particular core or supporting process. But some exceptions exist here as well, for example when it is possible to create 'EVA centres' (Staněk, 2003) and evaluate the economic added value of a process by this financial indicator. In this case, performance is evaluated directly in connection with a particular process, which is why such an indicator should be involved in a group of process PIs.

The third dimension of the model is the objective fulfilment rate. There are three basic states of performance: fulfilment, default, and over-fulfilment of a required target value. In which state the particular indicator is found depends on many internal and external factors. Within the description of one indicator it is necessary to determine a target value or an interval where acceptable performance occurs. This interval is limited at both ends by the states of default and over-fulfilment.

The fourth dimension in the model is the process performance level. This refers to what is important for a particular process at a particular moment, whether it is operational or strategic performance. The fourth dimension in the model is described by its integration into the other three dimensions. If a particular indicator is at the strategic level, it means that it represents a measure of a particular strategic goal. If it is at the operational level, it is not allocated to any strategic goal. Also, the philosophy of a balanced scorecard is integrated into the model of process performance.

If an indicator occurs at a strategic level and represents a measure of a strategic goal, then different strategic goals are grouped into specific perspectives. In Figure 2.3 are shown and integrated four perspectives of the Balanced Scorecard approach.

Apart from that, within this fourth dimension of the performance model it is also possible to form chains of causes and consequences, which in the balanced scorecard (BSC) concept are called strategic maps. This strategic map can be applied in a performance map in this model, when it is acceptable to create mutual relations between indicators at the strategic and operational levels. These relations do not represent a system of indicator formation, however, as for example relations in a pyramid system of indicators. In this case we can speak about a mutual influence, which from the point of view of their determination, can have double character relations – identification *ex ante*, when only thanks to intuition and experience are we able to determine the assumed influence between strategic goals or between performance indicators related to the stategic goals, and *ex post* identification, when by means of correlation analysis we may discover the influence from the point of view of different indicators at the time.

First dimension - importance of the business process

The first dimension in the model (x-axis) is the importance of business processes. Importance of the business processes usually comes from the added value and from the process ability to create added value. For example, by dividing production processes based on the contribution of individual parts of the production process in generating the products, processes can be classified in the following way:

- core processes, which add value and their outputs are products or services;
- supplementary production processes, which complement a core process and do not correspond with the business's main production aim;
- auxiliary production processes, which also add value and bring products which are used directly or indirectly in the main or supplementary processes;
- auxiliary service processes, which are not of a technological nature and which create the conditions necessary to ensure the continuous running of technological processes.

Most frequently we can see the division into main and supporting business processes or processes that add value, those that do not add any value, and processes that decrease value. In the model two categories are located along the x-axis, and they determine the basic scope of the importance of a process from the point of view of creating added value for the customer:

- 1) core business processes, whose final result is designed for an external customer and which directly participates in creating added value for this particular customer
- 2) supporting business processes, whose final output is designed for an internal customer and which indirectly participate in creating added value for this customer; an internal customer can be an employee or an organisational unit (process or activity) that takes supporting process outputs and transforms or uses it further within a particular business

Figure 2.3. The dynamic model of process performance management



The division into two groups results from a basic categorisation in process management. Also, within one of these two groups more or less important processes can exist. The importance of a process is determined by its position in the model. The more important the process is, the more it is moved to the right along the x-axis. It is the role of identifying and prioritising business processes to create a structure of processes based on their importance. This can be done on the basis of process relation towards other success critical factors, even if it is possible to determine various levels of importance within these factors as well.

The creators of the balanced scorecard concept defined four basic process groups that participate in value creation for owners from a long-term point of view. Theoretically, it is possible to create the above-mentioned groups or another category of processes along the x-axis. Our theoretical dynamic model are divided on the x-axis only to core and support processes regardless four BSC groups. Though the content of individual business processes is always the same, their categorisation may be different. This means that processes introduced in four groups according to BSC cover both core and supporting processes. The following processes are ranked among the basic core processes: marketing process, innovation process, production processes and delivery processes. The marketing process is placed at the beginning and at the end of the whole business value-creating chain. Its main role is to analyse customers and markets in order to identify where a company can place its products, and to push ahead manufactured products through different forms of promotion. Apart from that, a manufacturer should analyse its competitors and its customers continually; the result is that the marketing process is performed non-stop. The process of innovation especially follows a market analysis or a particular demand for a non-standard product. The output of an innovation process is a prototype of new product or service. Production processes can start when a customer order a particular product or when the innovation process has finished. The output of production processes are a products or services. A process of delivery covers the sale or provision of a product to customer, including the provision of supplementary services associated with the product.

Certainly, these processes can also include sub-processes, such as market research/ analysis, contractation, research and development of new products, preparation for production, providing services, despatching products, product sales, a marketing promotion, customer satisfaction evaluation or complaints, and customer after-sales service.

Supportingbusiness processes are divided into two subcategories: control processes and service processes. The former includes documentation and data administration, record administration, internal audits, controlling for non-conforming products, corrective measures, preventive measures, setting the mission, vision, and strategy, employee recruitment, employee evaluation, employee training, analysis, property management, financial management, organisational management, human resources management, quality management, etc. The latter includes metrology, inspection and testing, purchasing, supplier evaluation, storage, machinery and equipment maintenance, internal logistics, information technology support, etc. Neither the title of the process nor its content is important, but its importance and priority in relation to other business processes is substantial.

Second dimension - complexity rate of an indicator

The second dimension, which is visible on the y-axis, is the complexity rate for an indicator. As with process importance, two groups of indicators are also specified here:

- process performance indicators, by which process performance is evaluated directly by a particular indicator
- overall performance indicators, by which process performance is evaluated indirectly and accrues from the results of the business as a whole

Process PIs create a relation with the process attributes. It is not necessary to integrate process attributes into the model because they are only complementary in nature, since we are able to bind a particular indicator to a performance area being

monitored. Thus, process attributes are areas of performance monitoring. For example, we have business process attribute "quality". This attribute can be measured and evaluated only through defined indicator. So, quality of the process can be measured by percentage of non-conformity products of all products. Concerning the conception of a performance measurement system, a PI is in relation to a critical area of performance that must be measured. We can see that different views of the same problem can be different. A PI in the concept of BSC is in a relation with the strategic goal in a given perspective. A strategic goal can be, for example, within a strategy of internal processes the suppliers' ability to deliver on time; an indicator can simply be the percentage of on-time deliveries. What is important in the y-axis in this model, though, is whether the performance is measured directly or indirectly. The fourth dimension of the model shows whether there is a relation between an indicator and a strategic goal.

Process performance is indirectly evaluated through the indicators of overall performance, where it is not possible to allocate the indicator to a particular process clearly. At first these indicators follow the overall business results, for example from accounting statements. The indicator's complexity rate in this case refers to whether the direction of process performance evaluation is direct or indirect. In both groups indicators other than from the point of view of their actual complexity can also exist. The more complex the indicator within a particular group is, the further it is moved along the y-axis. For example, in a group of process PIs the most complex will be those related with integral attributes because their value is created at the process level and is calculated as a summation of the values of a particular integral attribute indicator's complexity also expresses a complexity of its formation within a particular group of indicators. In principle, this concerns a system of indicators that form another indicator.

Third dimension - fulfilment rate of goals

The third dimension, presented on the z-axis – is the rate of achieving objectives. There are three basic intervals in this dimension:

- non-fulfilment/default the required output values have not been achieved
- fulfilment the required values are within an acceptable interval
- over-fulfilment the value of a particular indicator showing the performance of a particular process has exceeded the required values, in a positive sense.

In the suggested model it is necessary for each indicator to define an interval of acceptable values within which the defined performance can vary; this state is considered to be ideal. However, there are two basic alternatives that must be taken into consideration:

- 1. If an indicator exceeds the fulfilment interval and reaches the values of the over-fulfilment interval, it is a positive result because the values are better than those which were planned. An indicator that is allowed to move into the overfulfilment interval is concerned here. Also, the trend of a given indicator should be considered. In the suggested model, indicators that move into the overfulfilment interval are improved. The trend of an indicator can be decreasing or increasing. An increasing trend can be seen in an indicator like profit or added value of a process. The highest indicator position is always better and movement of an indicator value which represents process performance, placed further along the z-axis, represents increased performance. The second possibility is that an indicator's value should go down, for example, the costs of activities or a process. If the value of such an indicator goes down, it does not move along the z-axis closer to the x-axis, but it moves further from it because we want its value to go down. Thus, the result is that all values that change positively in relation to a planned interval of acceptable values, regardless of whether their value goes up mathematically (an increasing indicator trend) or down (a decreasing indicator trend) - on the z-axis it reaches the over-fulfilment interval.
- 2. The second type of indicator is one that cannot move into the over-fulfilment interval. These are indicators where the final value and tolerance limit are specified. In this case, the tolerance limits are equal to the interval of acceptable values and their violation is not acceptable. Typical indicators of this type are indexes of process capacity.

Process capacity stands for a process's ability to meet technical or other requirements. Mostly they are determined by specifying the required minimum value and tolerance limits. If a quality indicator of a manufactured unit is equal to the required value, it is an ideal situation from the point of view of process capacity. However, such a situation for every manufactured unit is almost impossible to achieve in practice. That is why a manufactured unit is considered to conform to the requirements if a monitored quality indicator of this unit lies between the tolerance limits. The specified accuracy is determined by a tolerance where

- USL is the upper specification limit
- LSL is the lower specification limit
- T is the required target value
- MSL is the middle specification limit.

The tolerance interval is defined as (USL, LSL), its range is defined as (USL – LSL), and the centre of the tolerance interval is calculated as follows:

$$MSL = \frac{1}{2}(USL + LSL) \tag{5}$$

The third dimension of the model represents the rate of an objective's fulfilment, but it is necessary to consider the nature of an indicator, meaning how it can move along the axis of the model.

Fourth dimension - performance level

The fourth level in the model is the level of performance of a given process. This dimension is a part of a three-dimensional description when a performance level does not depend on individual axes (x, y, z), but they represent its limits. The performance monitored by an indicator depends on its relations towards strategic objectives. Figure 2.4 shows a part of the model where the classification of an indicator towards strategic objectives can also be seen. Performance level in this suggested model is divided into two groups:

- 1) process operative performance
- 2) process strategic performance.





An indicator that is placed on the operational level, meaning that it monitors operational performance, is not classified – is not a measuring instrument of any strategic objective. An indicator that is directly a measure of a strategic objective is placed on the strategic level. Four basic options can arise:

- 1. A process PI is a measure of a strategic objective and is represented in Figure 2.4, detail A.
- 2. A process PI is not a measure of any strategic objective (detail B).
- 3. A process PI is a measure of a strategic objective (detail D).
- 4. A process PI is not a measure of any strategic objective (detail C).

This model also includes a progressive conception of the BSC system, though not methodically. BSC implementation is a separate and difficult process, and its final state could be taken into consideration in a PPM model. The determination of an indicator as a measure of a strategic objective is only one step of BSC implementation. This process starts by determining strategic objectives and selecting an optimal number of them (20–25 strategic objectives). It continues by building relations between causes and consequences and by targeting strategically important relations. Suitable measures are then selected to monitor strategic objectives and their target values are defined. Finally, strategic activities (measurements) to achieve the targeted performance are defined.

The stage of selecting suitable indicators and assigning them to strategic objectives in BSC determines their relevance to process performance levels. When indicators are assigned to strategic objectives it is possible to use existing measurement instruments or to define new ones that will yield objective statements concerning the achievement of targeted performance and the fulfilment of strategic objectives.

As can be seen in Figure 2.4, strategic objectives can have different indicators to monitor their fulfilment, regardless of their position in the model. One strategic objective can contain a process PI and an indicator of overall performance; it can then be a combination of only overall PIs or only of indicators of process performance.

One strategic objective can contain only one indicator, though. The description of perspectives in the model is coloured, since each colour of a determined objective represents a particular perspective. Thus, four colours have been selected for a model to represent the four perspectives. Ideally, each indicator would be assigned to one strategic objective, but this cannot be always done. To reduce the complexity and ensure correct measurement, the number of indicators should be limited to a maximum of three measuring instruments for each strategic objective. In case more indicators are required, it is suitable to divide the strategic objective.

Each indicator in the model regardless of its position has internal structure expressed through attributes of measurement and evaluation. This structure or describing of indicators is not represented in the model – it is necessary to extract it.

It is represented in Figure 2.5. The basic attributes of measuring and evaluating process performance are defining the responsibility for defining an indicator, the responsibility for defining the indicator's target value, the assumptions based on which a target value is defined, the target value, the unit of measure for the indicator, the time frame for which the defined target value is valid, the responsibility for recording continuous indicator values, the interval between recording values, the place where the values will be recorded, the database from which continuous values will be obtained, the mechanism for calculating values if obtained from several data points, the way of automation for value calculating, the responsibility for evaluating the indicator, and the procedure for when an indicator value is exceeded. These attributes of measurement and evaluation are characterised in more detail in the following sections of this publication.



Figure 2.5. Two-dimensional view of the process performance management model (y, z)

In Figures 2.4 and 2.5 there is an indicator that is demonstrated together with a four-direction abscissa. It is an example abscissa, because indicator movement is allowed in all directions within the model, and in this way it indicates its dynamic features, i.e. the conditions under which its movement can be seen.

We have to consider process performance management as a possible parallel management system which concentrates particularly on process performance. Using activity-based management, the balanced scorecard system, or total quality management sustains performance. But we must remember that processes create value; they are the basic element of conducting business. We can evaluate their performance directly or indirectly, depending on the chosen approach. The areas for measuring and evaluating process performance are determined by the attributes, which are divided into process attributes, activity attributes, and integral attributes. Each group contains process performance measures. It is a basic relation in process performance measurement: process attributes and their measurement. Accepting the progressive business concept of BSC, process attributes and strategic objectives could be the same area for measuring, but at different performance levels. Each process performance measure has its own internal structure for consistent definition. Those basic starting points are integrated into the PPM model. The first part of this model is the static model that determines the content of PPM. It starts with identifying the business processes, moves on to measuring and evaluating process performance, and the last part is process improvement. The model also defines the possibilities for using different methods and techniques at all stages. The second part is the dynamic model. The purpose of this part is to describe and limit the possible change in process performance. The model has four dimensions: the level of process importance, the rate of measurement complexity, the rate of achieving objectives, and the level of performance. The dynamic model describes the causes and assumptions for changes in process performance.

2.3. Attributes of process performance indicators

As can be seen in Figure 2.1, there are two main groups of attributes necessary for PPM. The first group is represented by the attributes of measurement and the second one by the attributes of evaluation. These two groups are divided into four separate sets.

At the beginning, we used an affinity diagram that helped us to clarify and group various attributes of PIs. Affinity diagrams –sometimes called diagrams of relatedness or cluster charts – are a suitable tool for creating and organising information related to a given problem. An affinity diagram helps to sort this information into natural groups and to clarify the structure of problems to be solved. The diagram was created by teamwork and intuitive thinking. The professional composition corresponded with the issues that are being dealt with. The first step consists of defining the problem: What are the attributes of the PI? To focus the team's attention, we wrote down the problem in a visible place.

The task of the team was to use brainstorming to collect the attributes that could help solve the problem. The point was to come up with as many ideas as possible because there is an assumption that the more ideas there are, the higher probability they will be helpful in problem-solving. We wrote down all ideas on cards. A report was created by the coordinator of the brainstorming session, and every attribute was clearly formulated. After the discussion, the cards with the ideas were laid out over a large space. The ideas were then divided into natural groups by their relatedness. This activity was performed by each member of the team individually.

Figure 2.6. The four groups of attributes of a performance indicator

F: Formal attributes of the PI

- F1: Name of the PI
- F2: Relation to the business process (name and sign of the process)
- F3: Relation to the strategic goal
- F4: Strategic goal (name and sign of the strategic goal)
- F5: Responsibility for the PI definition

I: Informational attributes of the PI

- I1: Responsibility for data recording
- I2: Frequency of data recording
- I3: Place for data recording (name and destination of database)
- I4: Source of data
- I5: Formula for calculation
- I6: Automation of the calculation (manually/software)

T: Attributes of the PI's target value

- T1: Responsibility for defining the target value
- T2: Unit of measure for the PI
- T3: Period defined for achieving the target value
- T4: Determinants of the target value's definition
- T5: Target value (number)

E: Attributes of the PI's evaluation

- E1: Responsibility for evaluating the PI
- E2: Frequency of evaluating the PI
- E3: Visualisation of the performance achieved
- E4: Precedure in case of a performance gap
- E5: Warning signals for the evaluator

The stage of grouping was finished by the coordinator. The important step was to name the related ideas that could help to characterise each group. At the end we created four groups of attributes of a PI: (1) formal attributes of the PI, (2) attributes of the PI's target value, (3) informational attributes of the PI, and (4) attributes of evaluating the PI. Each group consists of various attributes. Each set of attributes consists of 21 attributes of PIs. In Figure 2.6 the groups and the attributes of PIs is presented.

F: Formal attributes of the performance indicator

F1: Name of the PI

Each indicator should have a specific name which implies an area of performance that is measured by this indicator. To allow the indicator to describe the context, it is advisable to answer the following question: How can we find out whether the level of performance or strategic goal has been reached?

F2: Relation to the business process (name and sign of the process)

This formal attribute refers to the connection between the indicator and a specific business process.

F3: Relation to the strategic goal

It is possible that the indicator is related to the operational or strategic level in a PMS. If the indicator is used for measuring strategic goals, it refers to the measurement and evaluation of strategic performance. Whether the indicator belongs to the first (strategic) or second (operational) level also depends on the utilisation of the BSC system. If this system is used in the company, it is obvious which indicators are part of the strategic set, which are part of the operational level of performance, and what the connections between them are. If this approach is not used by the company, it is advisable to create a primary connection between strategic goals and indicators.

F4: Strategic goal (name and sign of the strategic goal)

If there is a connection to a strategic goal, it is also necessary to name the strategic goal that is measured by the given PI.

F5: Responsibility for defining the PI

If the indicator is at the operational level of performance and it does not measure a strategic goal, then the indicator can be defined by the process owner or the line managers. If the indicator monitors the achievement of strategic goals, it is very important to follow specific principles when defining it. This means that the responsibility for defining the indicator usually lies with the top managers.

T: Attributes of the performance indicator's target value

T1: Responsibility for defining the target value

It is very important to define the responsibility for defining the indicator, and it should be obvious from this definition where the responsibility for defining its target values lies. The target value is critical in terms of performance evaluation, which is why it should be addressed to a specific employee.

T2: Unit of the PI

After creating a suitable indicator and defining the target value, the indicator should be clearly quantified in exact units of measure.

T3: *The period defined for achieving the target value*

This attribute determines the period for which the goal is set.

T4: The determinants of the target value definition

Each target value should be based on real expectations and there have to exist assumptions how to determine the target value. This usually comes from retrospective analysis and future state forecasting. There are lots of analytical, comparative, and planning methods for determining the target value.

T5: Target value (number)

One of the indicator's attributes is a goal, and without a target value the existence and monitoring of performance would hardly be possible.

I: Informational attributes of the performance indicator

11: Responsibility for data recording

The next responsibility is determining which employee will record the data necessary for measuring and evaluating performance. This is the third responsibility as an attribute of the PI.

12: Frequency of data recording

The next informational attribute that deals with the creation and distribution of information in connection to business performance is the frequency of data recording. A dependable employee should clearly identify their responsibilities and the frequency of data recording in order to make the performance measurement realistic. If the data collection is automated, the frequency of data recording is defined by software.

I3: Place for data records (name and destination of data store)

I4: Source of data

If no definite value of an indicator is assigned, it is important to determine the input data from which the final values are calculated. It is characteristic especially of synthetic indicators and relative indicators. If calculation is necessary, it should always be clear what the partial sub-indicators used to calculate the final value are.

I5: Calculation formula

If the value of the PI is calculated from various input values, the mechanism for calculating the final values should be defined (if the calculation is not automated).

In the case of a complex PI, it is recommended to use automated calculation because the evaluation of performance is easier.

I6: Automation of the calculation (manually/software)

In this case, it is important to determine which parts must be automated and which parts need to be calculated manually.

E: Attributes of evaluating the performance indicator

E1: Responsibility for evaluating the PI

The responsibility for evaluation is usually connected with the responsibility for defining the target values. This means that one of the managers is managing 'their' indicators.

E2: Frequency of evaluating the PI

The employee who is responsible for the performance evaluation should know the frequency at which the performance of the selected process should be evaluated by each indicator. If the PMS is automated, it can automatically warn the responsible employee of the need for evaluation and the system can report a deviation.

E3: Visualisation of the performance achieved

An important attribute of the PI that should be determined is a visualisation of the performance results. This is represented by the selection of the method or the way of visualising the results to the evaluator.

E4: Procedure in case of a performance gap

Situations that lead to insufficient performance can have specific causes with specific ways of solving them. For each PI a procedure should be defined in the case that the performance is not in either the 'exceed' or 'failure' interval.

E5: Warning signal for the evaluator

The warning signal is an alert to the person who is evaluating the level of performance achieved.

2.4. Empirical research focused on consistency of business process performance

Consistency is usually defined as agreement, harmony, or compatibility, especially a correspondence or uniformity, among the parts of a complex matter. The importance of consistency in any system guarantees its long-term equilibrium. A consistently defined system minimises externalities leading to the deterioration of the system's balance or even to its demise. A balanced system is thus a prerequisite for sustainability, and consistency is a prerequisite for balance.

Every system can be described using a model which includes those parts whose characteristics are of interest to us. The dynamics of the system are represented by the behaviour of the system. The behaviour of the system can be measured and evaluated using the system's parameters. The parameters then show what the characteristics of the system are. It is similar with a company. In order to describe and observe its characteristics, we need to know its structure (the static aspects) and processes (the dynamic aspects). Parameters to measure its behaviour are then represented by PIs. Each PI is used to observe the behaviour of a particular structure or business process.

The behaviour of a system and the ability to observe it are essential for maintaining its balance. Equilibrium occurs when in the event of deviation from the equilibrium, the system (company) can respond quickly. A rapid response to change ensures the survival of the system. Increasing adaptability to changes ensures a well-established performance management system. A well-designed system is a consistent system.

Perfect consistency is likely impossible for a company to achieve. Furthermore, the current rate of change causes organisations to go from periods of 'near consistency' to periods of 'some consistency.' If the inconsistency is too great, there is an imminent danger of destabilisation (Ramon & Arboledas, 2007).

Závadský (2010), Závadský and Droppa (2013), Závadský and Hiadlovský (2014), and Závadská et al. (2015) have demonstrated how a consistent performance management system could be defined. We know there are many approaches for constituting an effective PMS, but our approach can give managers a quick view of their PMS's consistency as an assumption of the enterprise equilibrium. The level of a system's consistency or inconsistency is one of the system's descriptions. Companies that want to survive need to obey three related laws, say Ramon and Arboledas (2007). According to them, the first is to achieve minimum levels for effectiveness and efficiency; the second is to understand that the degree of effectiveness may decrease if efficiency together is through consistency. Below we provide some problems that can be solved through consistency.

The first area is environmental or human problems. Tatarkin et al. (2014) proposed a consistent assessment of the status and prospects of institutional and innovative subsurface resource management in the Arctic. In this case, consistency is defined as a uniform and complete development of the institutional framework of the innovative subsurface resource management, which prevents the mineral and resource potential of the Arctic zone being utilised. The object is resource management and the consistency is represented by a uniform institutional framework (regulatory support, project support, and organisational and financial support) of all countries. Holzkämper et al. (2008) developed a consistent framework

for integrating knowledge to support integrated catchment management. They claimed that in managing such complex systems, a specific objective can be achieved through different management actions. Likewise, a specific management action can have implications for multiple objectives. Synergies or conflicts between specific objectives and between specific actions are likely to occur, and require careful consideration in order to increase the efficiency of planned management actions. However, such integrated decision-making is a very difficult and highly complex task, which cannot easily be accomplished by either a single planner or group of planners. Integrated modelling tools to facilitate and enhance communication within a group of decision-makers and to create a more objective and evidence-based, multicriteria decision-making process are required. Holzkämper et al. (2008) described a consistent framework for the integration of knowledge and information about environmental, social, and economic processes and process interactions which are affected by management actions and which impact multiple management objectives. Consistency was also addressed by Hrdinová et al. (2014) in their paper focussing on sustainable development and environmental effects. Healthcare services can also be consistent. Ellis et al. (2007) asked whether the pain management practices for lumbar punctures are consistent. Lu et al. (2008) solved another human problem: they carried out a study on a consistent and integrated traffic management model and emphasised that that model must have consistency criteria.

The next area where consistency should be the standard is software engineering and mathematical modelling. Papendieck and Schulze (2014) presented concepts for consistent variant-management tool integrations. Antonacci et al. (2013) described consistent and efficient output stream management in optimistic simulation platforms and in software engineering. Ishikawa (2010) expected a consistent integration of selection and replacement methods under different expectations in the service composition and partner management life cycle. Stender (2009) stated that setting up backup infrastructures for large-scale data management systems that can be operated cheaply and accessed with low latency has emerged as a practical problem. As a solution, he presented a highly scalable and cost-efficient architecture for backup management in a distributed file system. He described techniques for the creation of consistent backups at runtime, as well as approaches to resource management in connection with an integrated backup architecture. Magnier-Watanabe and Senoo (2007) explored the effect of consistent knowledge management behaviours on competitive advantage. Consistency is very often connected with data management. Awerbuch and Scheideler (2004) described it in their study of consistent and compact data management in distributed storage systems.

Financial management based on quantitative methods is the next area which usually requires consistency. Ma et al. (2013) showed the optimal time-consistent investment strategies in multi-period asset-liability management problems under mean-variance criterion. Time consistency is presented as a mathematical model. Likewise, Ekeland et al. (2012) discussed time-consistent portfolio management. Weißenberger and Angelkort (2011) did not identify a significant effect of the technical aspects of integrating a management accounting system, but report a fully mediating influence of a consistent financial language on controllership effectiveness. Their results imply that consistency with financial reporting is an important property of management accounting system design from the point of view of management.

A consistent definition can be used for other company subsystems as well as for PMS. Augestein et al. (2012) proposed consistent logistics service management. Their central idea was to integrate different specialised service models and to construct a comprehensive model which supports the direct implementation of services as concrete logistics tasks. Hermansson (2005) even talked about consistent risk management and introduced three models for understanding the demand for it.

The use of mathematical models was a good basis for creating the Z-MESOT framework, as other authors do using modelling. The model represents a system. The parameters included in the model describe its behaviour, and the structure of the parameters can be consistent or inconsistent. The level of PMS inconsistency should be calculated and should be able to illustrate the enterprise's real PMS.

Z-MESOT framework for testing the consistency of a performance management system

Figure 2.7 shows at what performance level PIs can be defined. The main idea of the Z-MESOT framework, however, is not to define specific PIs for each level of performance. For the application of the Z-MESOT framework, it is necessary to define the same set of attributes for all PIs at all levels of performance.



Figure 2.7. Basis for the Z-MESOT framework application

In order to evaluate consistency, we use the Z-MESOT framework (Measuring and Evaluating Strategic and Operational Targets). The consistency of a performance management system is clearly described by the Z-MESOT framework application in the specific business conditions and in accordance with the analysis of performance indicators. In this book we focus on performance indicators through selected key PIs. In the Z-MESOT framework there must always be more than two indicators in order to correctly identify a performance management system's consistency. Figure 2.8 outlines this framework and shows all attributes of performance indicators (21) in the first column of the framework and more than two real indicators in the first row. The rows of the Z-MESOT framework provide information about all attributes of the PI A_j . In total there are 21 of them. Therefore, j = 21. The data in the columns describe specific performance indicators used in the company should be included, especially those used in all performance-level evaluation, as shown in Figure 2.8.

We can assess whether a PMS is partially consistent according to the sum of values in the corresponding lines. The framework consists of values 1 or 0, depending on whether an indicator PI_i in the corresponding column has a defined attribute A_j or not, whilst Aj Î {F1, F5; T1, T5; I1, I6; E1, E5}. If the attribute is defined, a value of 1 is entered; if the attribute is not defined, 0 is the value.

If a given attribute A_j has reached a value equal to the number of indicators n, we consider it a positive, partially consistent definition of all the indicators included in the analysis using the Z-MESOT framework. If the attribute has a value of 0, there is also a partially consistent definition, but negative. All values between 0 and 21 indicate inconsistent definitions of the characteristics. Mathematically, we can describe partial consistency as follows:

If
$$\sum_{i=1,i=21}^{i} A_{ij}$$
, F5; T1, T5; I1, I6; E1, E5} \rightarrow negative partial consistency (6)

If
$$\sum_{i=1,j=21}^{n} A_{ij} 1$$
, F5; T1, T5; I1, I6; E1, E5} \rightarrow positive partial consistency (7)

If
$$\sum_{i=1,i=21}^{A_{ij}} \hat{A}_{ij}$$
 [F1, F5; T1, T5; I1, I6; E1, E5 \rightarrow partial inconsistency (8)

Figure 2.8. Z-MESOT framework

			1	 i		n	
			Performance indicator PI ₁	 Performance indicator PI _i		Performance indicator PI _n	ΣA _{ij}
F1	A ₁	Name of the PI	$A_{1,1} = 1 \lor 0$	 $A_{1,i} = 1 \lor 0$		$A_{1,n} = 1 \lor 0$	<0,n>
F2	A ₂	Relationship to the business process	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
F3	A ₃	Relationship to the strategic goal	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
F4	A ₄	Strategic goal (name and mark of the strategic goal)	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
F5		Responsibility for defining the PI	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
T1		Responsibility for defining the target value	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
T2		Unit of measure of the PI	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
T3		Period defined for achieving the target value	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
T4	A _j	Determinants of the target value's definition	$A_{j,1} = 1 \vee 0$	 $A_{j,i} = 1 \lor 0$		$A_{j,n} = 1 \vee 0$	<0,n>
T5		Target value (number)	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
I1		Responsibility for data recording	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
I2		Frequency of data recording	1 ∨0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
I3		Place for data recording	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
I4		Source of data	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
I5		Calculation formula	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
16		Automation of the calculation (manually/ software)	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
E1		Responsibility for evaluating the PI	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
E2		Frequency of the PI evaluation	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
E3		Visualisation of the performance achieved	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
E4		Procedure in case of a performance gap	1 ∨ 0	 1 ∨ 0		1 ∨ 0	<0,n>
E5	A ₂₁	Warning signal for the evaluator	$A_{21,1} = 1 \lor 0$	 A _{21,i} = 1 ∨ 0		$A_{21, n} = 1 \lor 0$	<0,n>
ΣA_{i}			<0,21>	<0,21>		<0,21>	

Inconsistencies in the Z-MESOT framework are featured in the last column in red; negative partial consistency is depicted in yellow; and partial positive consistency is depicted in green. In regards to the total consistency of the PMS, then all the attributes in all the rows have values equal to the number of analysed parameters n, then:

If
$$\sum_{i=1,j=1}^{n,21} \mathbf{A}_{i,j} = \mathbf{n} \, \dot{\mathbf{U}} \, \mathbf{j} = \langle 1, 21 \rangle \Rightarrow$$
 whole PMS consistency (9)

The sum of the individual columns can have a value between 0 and 21. The more attributes are defined for performance indicators, the more measurements and evaluations are systematic, and the more a systemic approach is in use.

Empirical research focused on application of the Z-MESOT framework in a selected manufacturing company

The application of the Z-MESOT framework is shown in Figure 2.8. This application is used to verify the consistency of PMS in the selected manufacturing company. Twelve performance indicators were included in the testing:

- 1(1) PI₁: Marketing Return on Investment (MROI)
- 1(2) PI₂: Inventory Turnover (ITO)
- 1(3) PI₃: Debt-to-Equity Ratio (DER)
- 1(4) PI_4 : Return on Equity (ROE)
- 1(5) PI₅: Net Profit Margin (NPM)
- 1(6) PI₆: Average Cycle Time (ACT)
- 1(7) PI_{7} : Units On Time (UOT)
- 1(8) PI_s: DIFOT Delivery In Full On Time (DIFT)
- 1(9) PI_o: TSMC Total Supply Management Costs (TSMC)
- (10) PI₁₀: Overall Equipment Effectiveness (OEE)
- (11) PI₁₁: Number of Customer Complaints (NCC)
- (12) PI₁₂: Customer Satisfaction Index (CSI).

In this book we do not analyse whether the indicators are suitable for measuring overall performance. We analyse their consistency through the Z-MESOT framework. Based on the analysis in the selected company, we enter values 1 or 0 into the framework matrix, depending on whether the attribute has been defined for that variable. We conducted an analysis of the controlling system, reviewed reports, and conducted structured interviews with managers of the selected company. Figure 2.9 shows the results of this analysis with the Z-MESOT framework. The company uses 12 key performance indicators form PI₁ to PI₁₂; in this case *i* = 12. The number of attributes of the performance indicator is unchanged, i.e. *j* = 21.

		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	
		MROI	OTI	DER	ROE	WdN	ACT	UOT	DIFT	TSMC	OEE	NCC	CSI	ΣA _{ij}
F1	Name of the PI	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
F2	Relationship to the business process	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
F3	Relationship to the strategic goal	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
F4	Strategic goal (name and mark of the strategic goal)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
F5	Responsibility for defining the PI	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	7
T1	Responsibility for defining the target value	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	7
T2	Unit of measure of the PI	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
T3	Period defined for the target value	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
T4	Determinants of the target value's definition	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
T5	Target value (number)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
I1	Responsibility for data recording	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	8
I2	Frequency of data recording	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	7
I3	Place for data recording	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	8
I4	Source of data	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
I5	Calculation formula	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
I6	Automation of the calculation (manually/software)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
E1	Responsibility for evaluating the PI	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	6
E2	Frequency of the PI evaluation	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
E3	Visualisation of the performance achieved	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	6
E4	Procedure in case of a performance gap	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
E5	Warning signal for the evaluator	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
ΣA _j		19	18	18	17	15	13	9	11	11	12	11	11	

Figure 2.9. Testing the consistent definition of a PMS using the Z-MESOT framework

Firstly, we investigated the existence of a partial positive or negative consistency. As shown in Figure 2.9, the positive consistent partial definition applies to all KPIs in the following attributes: F1, F2, T2, T3, T5, I4, I5, and I6. This means that the key performance indicators used to evaluate the company's performance have not specified all the PIs' attributes ($j \neq 21$), but selected attributes are specified overall in these KPIs. This represents partial positive consistency of the PMS. These KPIs have a consistent definition, but the whole PMS is inconsistent. If any of the following performance indicators had all other attributes defined, the PMS would have been completely consistent. Our analysis, however, revealed that some indicators also have other attributes defined and that several do not. Thus, the sum of the last column shall be neither 0 nor 12.

In the case of the company under study, we can therefore describe it as having an inconsistent PMS. One solution would be either to define attributes – F1, F2, T2, T3, T5, I4, I5, and I6 – for the other indicators or to omit the attributes which are defined only for certain parameters, with the last column of this attribute acquiring the sum of 0. The set of all attributes reaches a value of 21. In the last line we can see the degree of a systemic approach in measuring and assessing a company's performance. A systematic approach is applied when the last line in each field has a value of 21, representing a definition of all attributes for all indicators.

The presented Z-MESOT framework can serve managers not only in testing for consistency, but also in defining the responsibility for measuring and evaluating business performance if individual indicators have specified various attributes.

3. Increasing business process performance using intelligent technologies

In many European Union member countries, the integration of Industry 4.0 has become a priority at the government level. Not all enterprises and business processes are suitable for Industry 4.0 integration, however. Intelligent technologies as a basic element of Industry 4.0 especially fit in with serial and mass production of cyclically repeated processes and material products. There are, however, industries that only manipulate a material product without transforming it. This particularly concerns logistics companies. There is no definite manual for configuring intelligent technologies for all industries, because their integration always depends on a specific production or logistical system.

This chapter deals with increasing business process performance through the Industry 4.0 concept. We do not describe the economic benefits from introducing Industry 4.0. Each company is different due to its production system, which is why deploying this concept is always dependent on a specific company's conditions and it is impossible to generalise. If we integrate a specific intelligent technology to a selected business process, e.g. smart gloves in dispatching and manipulation, then quantifying the savings which an enterprise gains will depend on a number of components, operating zones, the way information is collected and processed, consequential operational factors, and the product itself. An analysis of the savings resulting from Industry 4.0 deployment must include an analysis of requirements concerning the performance of individual production processes before and after the integration of specific technologies. We must state that not every enterprise must necessarily apply the principles of Industry 4.0. There are some companies which do not have to apply the concept because the nature of their products does not allow it.

3.1. Industry 4.0 as an assumption of business process performance

The growth of a new digital industrial paradigm known as Industry 4.0, supported by a few technologies, such as collaborative robots, autonomous vehicles, and the Internet of things, is considered to be a key factor for the fourth industrial revolution. It is also designated as digital production. Ferreira et al. (2016) claimed that there are some more challenges related to the effective adaptation of these technologies and the interoperability of individual company levels so that the whole production system can work. Likewise, Wang et al. (2016) and Yao and Lin (2015) mentioned Industry 4.0 as an oncoming industrial revolution. The term Industry 4.0 was used for the first time in Germany in 2011 as Industrie 4.0. It describes and incorporates a set of technological changes in production and determines priorities that aim to preserve the global competitiveness of German industry (Qin, Liu, & Grosvenor, 2016). Digitalisation of the whole value-creating chain and continual access to information in the form of virtual models enabled the fourth industrial revolution (Moller, 2016). Industry 4.0 applies the principles of cyber-physical systems (CPS), technologies orientated towards the Internet and intelligent devices with interaction between man and machine. As several authors have stated (Lasi et al., 2014; Posada et al., 2015; Valdez, Brauner, Schaar, Holzinger & Ziefle, 2015), it enables communication among all the entities in a production system in real time. Industry 4.0 is qualified by three dimensions of integration (Almada-Lobo, 2015; Stock & Selinger, 2016):

- horizontal integration within the whole chain of value creation
- end-to-end engineering during the whole product life cycle
- vertical integration and net production systems.

Nowadays, companies face problems processing the huge amount of data coming from information systems and smart devices. Many production systems cannot manage these huge amounts since they are not integrated into a single system that could be used for autonomous management and optimisation of the production system (Lee, Kao & Yang 2014). According to some authors (Brettel, Friederichsen, Keller & Rosenberg, 2014; Almada-Lobo, 2015), the oncoming industrial revolution is based on Internet functions, which allows communication between people as well as between machines in CPSs. According to Kagermann et al. (2013), the Industry 4.0 concept is based on CPS, which he designated as a fusion of the physical and virtual worlds. In his opinion, the Internet of things enables the whole enterprise to be connected into the virtual environment. Intelligent machines develop digitally and warehousing systems and production facilities enable the integration of information and communication systems across the entire supply chain. The term Industry 4.0 refers to a wide range of actual concepts whose clear classification related to Industry 4.0 does not exist. The following fundamental concepts have been mentioned by a fewauthors (Lucke et al., 2008; Lasi, et al., 2014): (1) smart factories - manufacturing will be completely equipped with sensors, actors, and autonomous systems; (2) cyber-physical systems – the physical and the digital level merge, which if it covers the level of production as well as that of products, systems can emerge whose physical and digital forms cannot be differentiated in a reasonable way anymore; (3) self-organisation - existing manufacturing systems become increasingly decentralised, which comes along with a decomposition of the classic production hierarchy and a change towards decentralised self-organisation; (4) new systems in the distribution, procurement, and development of products and services - this will increasingly be individualised; (5) adaptation to human needs – new manufacturing systems should be designed to follow human needs instead of the reverse. Kane, Palmer, Phillips & Kiron (2015) stated that some kinds of jobs may completely cease to exist after Industry 4.0 deployment, but at the same time the increased productivity achieved through the use of smart technologies can ensure new jobs and can increase consumer demand. Weber (2015) claimed that if the number of jobs does not decline, their profiles will be changed. This means that in the area of employee education, adaptation measures will be required.

3.2. Intelligent technologies and main value-added business processes

The integration of intelligent technologies is the basis of Industry 4.0, and it simultaneously presents an important organisational and technological innovation. Crossan and Apaydin (2010) systematised organisational innovations with a comparative analysis of the literature from the past thirty years. They synthesised various perspectives concerning the theory and consequences of organisational innovations and suggest indicators and determinants of organisational innovations and their consequences for managerial practice. Similarly, Damanpour and Aravind (2012) also pointed out the impact of organisational innovations on management practice. Their publications, independent from Industry 4.0, expanded the theory of organisational innovations, which is not based only on technological and product innovations. Damanpour et al. (2009) conducted a study aimed at technological and organisational companies in non-industrial industries, particularly among a sample of 428 public service organisations in Great Britain over four years. One of their findings was that technological and organisational innovations based on intelligent technologies have an impact on performance even in non-production organisations. Adams et al. (2006) focussed on measuring technological and organisational innovations in enterprises. They proposed a complex framework to measure and

assess innovations. In regards to the development of production quality according to Industry 4.0, though, we think of technological and organisational innovations which result from informatisation, digitalisation, and automation. All intelligent technologies are based on digital information and automation. Some authors also grouped Big Data and cloud solutions under Industry 4.0. We can see the arrival of nanotechnologies and new communication solutions such as high-speed networking, as well, but these were not included into our set of intelligent devices.

A description of a practical demonstration which utilises technologies of the Internet of things, wearable technologies, virtual reality, and cloud technologies for supporting production systems was presented by Hao and Helo (2017). Maly et al. (2017) described the implementation of augmented reality through intelligent glasses with gestures in a production cell containing an industrial robot and claim that users of smart glasses are able to make products without previous knowledge or any other assistance due to the fact that smart glasses project information into the physical work space of their user. Kolberg and Zühlke (2015) dealt with the utilisation of smart watches in flexible production planning supported by the Kanban conception of what really underlines their rich application. Vernim and Reinhart (2016) presented a study which compared two mobile devices used as assistance systems. The goal of their study was to identify the possibilities of using smart phones and tablets in an unknown assembling task. Their findings demonstrate that in contrast to the classic forms of working instructions, these devices also bring better results in the execution of an assembly task. As Mo et al. (2016) stated, radio-frequency identification technology could also be used locally in production companies to monitor assembly. Ji et al. (2016) described the technology of production process management for producing components based on bar codes.

Autonomous vehicles, drones, and GPS systems are examples of navigation and localisation technologies. Autonomous mobility presents an important element towards the integration of intelligent technologies based on localisation systems. It is divided into autonomous mobility used in road-traffic infrastructure and internal company logistics. For example, BMW transports components using a fleet of ten autonomous intelligent robots called Smart Transport Robots. One of the integral parts of Industry 4.0 in production companies is a manufacturing execution system (MES). Nowadays, a detailed exchange of data between MES and ERP systems is inevitable, since these systems are necessary for the effective and faultless planning and operation of devices and production processes. According to Fallaha (2015), the need for information technologies is growing and is led by computer-integrated production. The disadvantage, as the author said, is insufficient flexibility and rigid hierarchical managerial architectures. With the aim of overcoming these restrictions within Industry 4.0, MES systems should be integrated. Kletti (2015) stated that a key to ensuring the success of production information is a fully integrated MES solution

which is used as a central information data system. In his publication, Kletti (2015) described how an integrated MES helps improve production effectiveness and success with Industry 4.0 technology, which from the point of view of Industry 4.0 is considered to be as important as 3D printing. Chen & Lin (2017) stated that 3D printing is an important factor that enables the development of production quality in accordance with Industry 4.0. In their study, they directly analysed the barriers which prevent this technology being deployed. Another technology which forms Industry 4.0 in practice is virtual reality. For example, Turner et al. (2016) examined the possibilities of using virtual reality in industrial enterprises, particularly in simulating discrete events.

In a smart factory, it is not possible to avoid the use of collaborative robots (Murashov, Hearl & Howard, 2016). Collaborative robotics is a new trend in the area of industrial robotics, and it creates new opportunities in the cooperation between people and machines. Workers share their workstation with a robot, which helps them with non-ergonomic, repetitive, uncomfortable, or dangerous operations. The robot monitors its movement with advanced sensors so that it does not restrict – and more importantly does not endanger – its colleagues, the production operators (Vysocky & Novak, 2016).

The main value-added business processes are production processes. We focus on manufacturing companies where intelligent technologies are used the most. Each manufacturing company has production management as an integral part of the industrial enterprise management system. It creates the core of the value-added process through core and support manufacturing processes. Production management is a specialised discipline of management orientated towards production planning, the organisation of production operations and activities, the management of production operators and other employees allocated to production processes, and control activities related to the production process. These management processes are ensured by manufacturing managers, shift managers, and other management staff, organisationally associated with manufacturing processes regardless of the management system, which may be function- or process-orientated. Manufacturing operations are provided by manufacturing operators.

If we consider production management as a subsystem of the company's management system, its function is mainly to create a manufacturing and product programme, technical preparation, technological preparation of production, organisational preparation of production connected with time, space, layout, and capacity planning, production run, production start, planning and organisation of the main production processes, planning and organisation of service production processes, checking the quality of inputs and outputs of production processes, controlling non-conforming products, and changing procedures. The function of production management is also to ensure the integrity, flexibility, and continuity

of production processes by using production management methods and tools and operational analysis. The basic goal of production management is to produce products in the amount and quality required by stakeholders in order to optimally secure all production management functions.

The content of the production management system is determined by its functions, objectives, and outputs of production processes. The development of production management mainly influences technological and organisational innovations associated with the digitisation, computerisation, and automation of production processes. The rapid technological development in external technologies entering production processes was also signalled by the creation of the Industry 4.0 concept. All social and technological elements of production system are conected via the Internet or an intranet. The social element consists of production managers and production operators or other employees involved in production processes. However, such connection can be only secondary to another technological device; there is no direct connection between humans and machines in Industry 4.0. Besides interconnectivity, this concept contemplates the massive deployment of collaborative robots to replace human resources and the deployment of information systems based on the mass collection of all data as a result of the interconnectedness of a factory's management system elements.

Pre-production processes

The objective of the survey is to classify production processes and the subjects of the survey were selected industrial enterprises. Not all manufacturing concepts are applicable separately, as they have to be integrated into an existing production system in which production and logistics processes are implemented. Therefore, in the next part, we focus on defining the content of the individual processes that form the basis of our literature review. The first group is the pre-production processes listed in Table 3.1.

Process	Process outputs					
Forecasting	production prognosis, production programme, long-term production plan, development plan					
Product development	prototype design, construction, and technological documentation					
Prototype production and evaluation	real prototype, approval documentation (suppliers, customers, construction, technology, and economy)					
Commercial prototype production planning	design of production system layout, design of production processes, drafting of norms (material, energy, and time), allocation of human resources					
Commercial prototype production and evaluation	real production system, production run, start of production, production system typing					
Demand management	product price, marketing communication plan, contract					

Table 3.1. Pre-production processes

The importance of pre-production processes lies in the generation of future production based on forecasts on the design and development of new products, together with the production and approval of the prototype, the technical preparation of production, and the planning of the corresponding production system. Pre-production processes begin by forecasting and creating a business programme.

Production processes

An essential part of the production system is the production process, where organisational and technological innovations are primarily implemented to ensure that it fulfils its strategic and operational performance. Table 3.2 shows the manufacturing processes that we consider to be the basis for further investigation, not only theoretical but also empirical research in the selected industrial plants. This research is not described in our monograph.

According to Kupkovič (2003, p. 258), production is a part of the transformation process, specifically the conversion of production factors (inputs) into products (outputs). This transformation takes place as a production process that consists of a whole range of working, automated, and natural processes and is limited by the time interval in which the inputs are converted to the product.

Process	Process outputs					
Tool management	need for tools, new tools, repaired tools, tool warehouse					
Material management	material requirements according to bill of materials and consumption norms, stock material, material flow, waste material					
Scheduling	layout of the production system, allocation of resources to workplaces, plan of technological operations					
Manufacturing planning and control	daily and change-over production plans, operational re- allocation of production operators, time, rhythm and continuity of production					
Manufacturing	production batches, assembly, assembly, performance of production operations, intermediate stocks, finished products					
Converting manufacturing processes	plan for reconfiguring the production system, changing the layout of the workplaces					
Non-conformity management	identification of inappropriate product, marking non- conformities, stock of non-conforming products, repairing, releasing, recycling or disposing of non-conformities					

 Table 3.2. Production processes
Tomek and Vávrová (2014) defined production as the decisive part of the valuecreation chain, which uses combination of factors to secure the satisfaction of the customers' needs by creating goods and services. Implementation takes place through the enterprise production system. Keřkovský and Valsa (2012) described production as a transformation of production factors into economic goods and services that are subsequently consumed. Production is a crucial part of the value chain. Value is added throung production process which can be characterised as the result of a purposeful human behaviour which, using input factors, ensures the given transformation process with the result of the most valuable output.

Rudy et al. (2012, p. 6) stated that the essence of production is the input of the input factor into the transformation process, at the end of which output is generated. To realise these changes, it is necessary to mobilise labour and means of production. The authors attribute an important role to the production technology used as well, indicating how the work force and working refer to work on raw materials, materials, and semi-finished products when they are transformed into the desired product or service.

Kupkovič (2003, p. 258) characterised the production process as a 'creative process whose function is the creation of utility values and it represents the main activity of the enterprise.' According to him, the main aspects of the division of the production process are as follows:

- the production programme the main manufacturing process, the auxiliary production process, the by-product manufacturing process, and the associated manufacturing process;
- complexity of products simple manufacturing processes and complex (medium complex products, complex and very complex products) production processes;
- participation of nature, man, and technology natural, working, and automated processes;
- technology used extraction technological processes, mechanical technological processes, chemical technological processes, biochemical processes and energy technological processes;
- the composition of the products;
- method and rate of the repeatability of production a continuous, cyclical, and non-cyclical process.

Post-production and cross-production processes

Post-production and cross-production processes are shown in Table 3.3. We joined this group into one table where we try to briefly characterise the basic attributes of these processes.

Process	Process outputs							
Continuous improvement	incremental process changes							
Reporting	reports according to the requirements of the production managers							
Maintenance	the technological equipment being maintained							
Quality Control	input, intermediate, and output control							
Visual management	visualisation of results, instructions, and security zone							
Waste management	waste sorting, low environmental burden, recycling of usable materials							
Change management	integrating changes in product requirements into production systems and production processes							

Table 3.3. Post-production and cross-production processes

Continuous improvement of production processes is based on gradual incremental changes. Continuous improvement as a philosophy was described by Freiesleben (2005), Perdomo-Oritz, Gonzales-Benito and Galende (2009), Kosturiak et al. (2006), and Košturiak (2013). Similarly, Řepa (2006, p. 13) noted that it is necessary to improve production processes and states that several approaches have been created to improve processes and introduce incremental changes, following the crisis of reinvigoration as a radical change of processes.

Reporting is one of the post-production processes. Today it is often referred to as reporting and is significantly linked to the existing enterprise information system and its database. According to Fibírová (2003), reporting should create a relatively comprehensive system of indicators and information that should evaluate not only the development of the whole enterprise but also provide partial views – including those from production processes – which are decisive in terms of management. Reports should therefore be structured in line with their real users' needs. Reporting thus represents the process of creating internally structured information groups for production managers at regular intervals or upon request.

An important cross-production process is maintenance. This process is often also included in the manufacturing process and represents the care of technological equipment that ensures their operational reliability and sustainability. Usually we include the regular repair of machines and equipment during operation and all types of planned and unscheduled repairs in order to eliminate the consequences of fatigue of the machines and equipment. Today, maintenance in businesses has evolved into the Total Productive Maintenance (TPM) concept. This concept was written/ described by Chong et al. (2012), Jeon et al. (2011), Jirarat et al. (2011), Sivaram et al. (2013), and Leflar (2001). Boledovič (2013) stated that a fully productive maintenance system of a company consists of five elements. The system of total productive maintenance aims to change the organisational culture in the enterprise to maximise the overall efficiency of the production system. TPM takes a thorough look at the entire business system to prevent all types of losses in the workplace or of the equipment. TPM is not only in the production system and cooperative departments, but it is a company-wide concept. The implementation and functioning of TPM entails the activities of all employees in the company and strives for zero losses through activities in small autonomous teams.

Quality control is a part of quality management. Like the management of innovation, this is also a separate management discipline. Specifically, and in connection with the quality control of production processes, Ghinato addressed this issue (1998). In principle, various measuring and diagnostic equipment is used for quality control, so quality control is closely related to the discipline of metrology. Quality control, in our opinion, is one of the processes where it is possible to deploy some innovative and intelligent technologies very quickly and efficiently.

Visual management is based on the principle of visualising as many elements of the production system as possible. Visualisation is based on the claim that visual perception facilitates adaptation and performance. Visualisation includes the creation of horizontal and vertical boundaries around devices and workplaces, the visualisation of the current state of work in progress in the form of screens, the visualisation of supremacy and subordination in the form of clothing, the visualisation of performance results, and the visualisation of work operations in the form of pictograms.

Waste management is often governed by legislation, where the relevant statutory regulations have to be met. With regard to waste management, companies are given the opportunity to use resources efficiently.

The next cross-sectional production process is change management. In this case, it is not the management of changes in management considerations. In this case, it is about implementing changes that are triggered by stakeholders and that affect the production system or production processes, consequently affecting the final product. It is, for example, a change in customer requirements at a certain phase of production sprawl, a requirement for a change in material or construction, or a requirement to implement a change in product safety. Changes can thus be divided into those that relate to a specific customer's product or a change that affects all other manufactured products, regardless of the customer.

3.3. Empirical research focused on utilisation of intelligent technologies in production processes

Our empirical research was conducted in a few phases, the most important of them being the determination of a set of 26 manufacturing and logistics processes in four groups and four smart devices, the creation of a research matrix, the determination of basic and a selected set of industrial enterprises, distribution of the questionarie as a research matrix, data collection from surveys filled in by quality managers, processing of research data representing current application of intelligent technologies in the sample, the expectations of quality managers, and the identification of the potential for growth in intelligent technologies.

The basic method for the research was a sociological enquiry in the form of a questionnaire – in our case the questionnaire shown in Table 3.4. Questionnaires were sent to quality and production managers, and data collection was carried out from November 2018 to March 2019.

Manufacturing processes	Smart Glasses	Smart Gloves	Smart Watches	Smart Phones/ Tablets
Forecasting	0	0	0	80
Product development	7	0	5	80
Prototype production and evaluation	7	0	0	80
Commercial prototype production planning	7	0	0	80
Commercial prototype production and evaluation	7	0	0	80
Demand management	0	0	11	80
Tool management	9	0	0	80
Material management	9	0	11	80
Scheduling	0	0	0	80
Manufacturing planning and control	7	0	18	80
Manufacturing	20	9	18	80
Converting manufacturing processes	0	0	0	77
Nonconformity management	27	2	50	98
Continuous improvement	0	0	0	80
Reporting	2	0	39	80
Maintenance	9	0	7	80
Quality Control	23	2	57	98
Visual management	20	0	30	98
Waste management	0	0	0	80
Change management	23	2	59	80
Purchasing	11	0	23	98
Warehousing	27	2	25	98
Dispatching	36	16	16	98
Transportation	7	0	14	98
Manipulation	25	2	7	98
Delivering	11	0	39	98

Table 3.4. Percentage of smart device utilisation in production processes [%]

The study group consisted of large enterprises employing more than 249 employees. According to the Slovak Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community (SK NACE), the total number of registered large enterprises in December 2016 was 907. The basic set of 251 enterprises met these selection criteria:

- to have more than 249 employees,
- to be located in Slovakia,
- to have manufacturing or logistics processes,
- to have products clearly identifiable.

Table 3.5.	Industrial	enterprises
------------	------------	-------------

Industrial enterprises	No.	%
CA – Manufacture of food, beverages, and tobacco products	23	9.16
CE – Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products	5	1.99
CF – Manufacture of pharmaceuticals and medicinal chemical and bota- nical products	3	1.20
CG – Manufacture of rubber and plastic products and other non-metallic mineral products	40	15.94
CH – Manufacture of basic metals and fabricated metal products, except machinery and equipment	29	11.55
CI – Manufacture of computer, electronic, and optical products	11	4.38
CJ – Manufacture of electrical equipment	29	11.55
CL – Manufacture of transport equipment	52	20.72
F – Construction	11	4.38
H – Transportation and storage	48	19.12
Total	251	100.00





The industries which are shown in Table 3.5 were classified as the basic set of enterprises. The largest group in the basic set (n=52) is represented by those companies

doing business in the automotive industry. The second largest group is those enterprises from the area of transport and warehousing. This fact is not very surprising since the automobile industry plays an essential role in the Slovak economy.

The selected set consisted of 44 companies. Tablets and smart phone are most often used among smart devices. In none of the defined set of production and logistic processes was the percentage of their use lower than 77%. The second most often used smart devices were smart watches, which are classified as wearable intelligent technologies. Intelligent watches were most used in processes such as non-conformity management (50%) and in reporting, quality control, and change management. The least utilised intelligent device in the selected set of enterprises was smart gloves. They were mentioned in only six processes. The gloves are most intelligent in dispatching, where they were used by 16% of the surveyed companies' processes. Smart glasses were most often used in manufacturing, non-conformity management, quality control, visual management, change management, purchasing, warehousing, dispatching, transportation, manipulation, and delivering. The process with the highest level of usage was dispatching, with a value of 27%.

An analysis of the current utilisation of smart technologies was the one of the main goals. This topic is closely connected with business performance. Innovations based on utilising new technologies which are a part of Industry 4.0 is a concept understood under the term quality development. They can also be discussed separately, because, for example, intelligent devices are used in almost every company but they do not have to apply Industry 4.0 as a complex of technologies. It should be remembered that not every enterprise has to apply all technologies in the set of our empirical research. The deployment of complex technologies is especially determined by the following factors:

- the industry
- the number of pre-manufacturing, manufacturing, post-manufacturing and cross-manufacturing processes
- the scope of individual processes
- the actual rate of data, digitalisation, and automation of processes
- the actual state of production system integration
- the actual state and number of smart technologies
- the requirements of concerned parties concerning the utilisation of smart technologies (especially suppliers and customers).

The most important conclusion resulting from the empirical research is that the high degree of variability in smart technology usage is dependent on the industry. For example, the automotive industry used these technologies at the highest level among all industries, and in contrast the lowest level of using new technologies is in the building trades. Thus, there is a relatively large difference between them. This concerns not only individual processes, but the technologies as well.

4. Exigency of improving business processes

Based on a literature review and previous research, we decided to develop a new, simple Industry 4.0 necessity index for quantifying process improvement exigency related to Industry 4.0 (I4). This index is not intended to identify the current state of I4 or a company's readiness for this concept, but to assess the need to implement it. By implementing the Industry 4.0 concept we mean mostly deploying intelligent technologies, informatisation, and the automation of business processes. Our philosophy is to develop a simple design for a minimum number of factors that may give rise to an internal or external need to implement I4. The secondary output of the I4 necessity index is a quantification of the level of potential process improvement of selected production and logistical processes. We selected eight basic factors that take into account the internal and external pressure on I4 implementation.

4.1. Industry 4.0 indexes and maturity models

Since Industry 4.0 emerged, many maturity models have been developed. One of the main objectives of this book is to develop an I4 necessity index for quantifying the exigency of process improvement related to I4. We focus on pressure that affects the selected production and logistic processes, either internally or externally. That pressure on process improvement is expressed through selected exigency factors. The literature review helped us to understand how other authors perceive I4 readiness and I4 maturity and what factors are most important for our research and for developing an I4 necessity (I4N) index.

Our literature review started with a general analysis of I4. More than 10,000 papers related to I4 were found in Web of Science and Scopus databases. We selected papers that describe the factors of I4 readiness and I4 maturity. Nazarov and

Klarin (2020) presented a taxonomy of Industry 4.0 by mapping scholarship and industry insights. According to them (2020), the state-of-the-art review of the entire scholarship on Industry 4.0 demonstrates three broad clusters: the implications of automation for industry, the integration of technologies, and technological advancements driving the Fourth Industrial Revolution. Interesting research was also conducted by Kosacka-Olejnik and Pitakaso (2019), who analysed the main contributions published on the topic of Industry 4.0. A study by Ghobakhloo (2020) could serve Industry 4.0 stakeholders – leaders in the public and private sectors, industrialists, and academics – to better understand the opportunities that the digital revolution may offer for sustainability and to work together more closely to ensure that Industry 4.0 delivers the intended sustainability functions around the world as effectively, equally, and fairly as possible. A general view on I4 was also offered by Schott et al. (2020), Culot et al. (2020), Mana et al. (2018), and Pessot et al. (2020). We focussed on the newest papers.

Jesus and Lima (2020) determined the key factors for the development of generic and specific maturity models for I4. They identified factors for the development of specific maturity models which are orientated towards unique conditions, located in specific contexts, and can cover both the need for self-diagnosis of the level of preparation and the actions that could progressively reconfigure and guide the company through continuous improvement towards Industry 4.0. Their systematic literature review of 67 papers resulted in the identification of five factors for development of a specific maturity model: context characterisation, conceptual characterisation, interaction with practitioners and experts, development of surveys, and qualitative research. The key ingredients for evaluating an organisation's Industry 4.0 readiness and the interrelationships that exist between these readiness factors were also described by Sony and Naik (2020). Their research can help organisations identify the factors which they need to critically assess before implementing Industry 4.0. All those factors are primary related to I4 maturity and I4 readiness. According to Hughes et al. (2020), the roadmap towards Industry 4.0 is complex and multifaceted, as manufacturers seek to transition towards new and emerging technologies whilst retaining operational effectiveness, and these factors are further evaluated via the presentation of their new Industry 4.0 framework. A unique view on the I4 maturity model for machine tool companies was presented by Rafael et al. (2020), who claimed that a maturity model (MM) can be very useful, since it helps in the evaluation of a company's initial state and the planning of a development road map.

The dominant drivers of I4 integration are societal pressure and public awareness, government policies supporting I4, top management involvement and its support, and government incentives and regulations (Harikannan et al., 2020). Ramingwong et al. (2019) stressed the human factors leading to I4. Strategy, leadership, and culture were found to be the key elements of transformation in the journey

towards I4; additionally, the design and development of digital twins, virtual testing, and simulations were also important factors for manufacturing firms to consider (Narula et al., 2020; Zabolotniaia, Cheng, Vasin et al., 2018). Pech and Vrchota (2020) used the Index of Industry 4.0 and confirmed the assumption that large enterprises have greater opportunities to use new technologies and to transform into smart factories. Hizam-Hanafiah et al. (2020) explored many I4 readiness models. According to Hizam-Hanafiah et al. (2020), it is critical for organisations to self-assess their Industry 4.0 readiness in order to survive. Their review identified 30 I4 readiness models with 158 unique model dimensions, and they proposed six dimensions (technology, people, strategy, leadership, process, and innovation) that can be considered the most important ones for organisations. Another seventeen enablers that can affect the adoption of Industry 4.0 in the manufacturing industry in India were explored through an extensive review of the available literature and the perspectives of industry and academic experts by Jain and Ajmera (2020). A systematic literature review presented by Hoyer et al. (2020) discussed a comprehensive list of potential factors that influence the implementation of Industry 4.0 and strengthened the idea that further research is necessary in order to address contradictory findings and develop efficient Industry 4.0 implementation frameworks. Simetinger and Zhang (2020) stated that the potential of the Industry 4.0 concept lies in increased productivity, improved cost efficiency, or higher product attractiveness. The adoption of this concept comes with many challenges and risks. A possible solution to address these challenges and risks is to adopt or implement this concept using maturity models. Simetinger and Zhang conducted a comparative analysis of significant maturity models.

The Fourth Industrial Revolution has provided an unprecedented platform for innovation in various spheres (Kruger and Steyn, 2020). We agree with this innovation potential, and as such would like to quantify the process improvement exigency related to I4. It is important to consider all drivers and barriers, as did Stentoft et al. (2020) in their investigation of the drivers and barriers for Industry 4.0 readiness and practice among Danish small and medium-sized manufacturers. Rauch et al. (2020) and Peukert et al. (2020) similarly investigated small and medium-sized enterprises using a maturity level-based assessment tool to enhance the implementation of I4 and a process model for the successful implementation and demonstration of SMEbased I4. Herceg et al. (2020) also provided a deeper analysis of the digital maturity model and the I4 driving forces and implementation barriers. Cimini et al. (2020) investigated the organisational implications of adopting I4 technologies, paying specific attention to operations. The basis for determining our exigency factor also comes from Wagire et al. (2020), who developed a maturity model for assessing the implementation of Industry 4.0. We emphasise that not maturity, but a real necessity of I4 implementation was the main goal of this book. We found the

research of Nafchi and Mohelska (2020) to be inspirational. They found that the size and type of an organisation influence the innovative culture and consequently the readiness of an organisation for implementing Industry 4.0. Another factor for process improvement could be cost-driven motives, which were described in detail by Stentoft et al. (2020). We will not consider these financial aspects, but rather a framework for a quality discipline that supports the fourth industrial revolution (Zonnenshain & Kenett, 2020).

Maturity models and I4 implementation frameworks have also been described by Kiraz et al. (2020), Facchini et al. (2020), Santos and Martinho (2019), Tortorella, Giglio, and Dun (2019), Pacchini et al. (2019), Frederico et al. (2019), Gajsek et al. (2019), Basl and Doucek (2019), Colli et al. (2019), Mittal et al. (2018), Bibby and Dehe (2018), Sjodin et al. (2018), Asdecker and Felch (2018), and Ganzarain and Errasti (2016). All these studies resulted in a similar group of factors or maturity levels. The level of informatisation, the level of automatisation, and the level of the process integration to an MES/ERP, customers, and suppliers are the most important exigency factors which are involved in an I4N index. For example, Kuo et al. (2020) also proposed a smart system to prevent customer dissatisfaction. Each factor is assessed separately in our proposal. Calculating the I4N index uncovers the process improvement exigency related to I4.

The next factors are focussed on the production system. Raj et al. (2020) described the specific barriers to the adoption of Industry 4.0 technologies in the manufacturing sector. Ivascu (2020) discussed the implications of sustainable manufacturing in the context of Industry 4.0. The importance of I4 mainly in production systems was also described in Doltsinis et al. (2020). As we mentioned above, process improvement related to I4 and its quantification is the main goal. This was supported by Queiroz et al. (2020), who identified 26 drivers that have an impact on improved business processes. Tupa and Steiner (2019) and Jena et al. (2020) also emphasised that production companies are adopting new methods for improving their management of production processes and for sustainable manufacturing. Hahn (2019) and Tortorella et al. (2019) explored the relationship between I4 and supply chain improvement. The implications of the literature review have been transferred to our I4N index for calculating the exigency of process improvement related to I4.

4.2. New Industry 4.0 necessity index

From the analysis of existing research, we selected eight basic factors that take into account the internal and external pressure on I4 implementation. There are many existing perspectives on I4 implementation and business readiness. In determining the factors, we focussed on the basic criteria, which were the simplicity and generality

of the resulting I4N index. The internal and external I4 exigency factors were as follows: $I4N_1 - production$ system; $I4N_2 - product$ variability; $I4N_3 - existence$ of the process; $I4N_4 - level$ of informatisation of the process; $I4N_5 - level$ of automation of the process; $I4N_6 - integration$ of the process to the MES/ERP; $I4N_7 - customer$ request for using intelligent technologies in the process; and $I4N_8 - supplier$ request for using intelligent technologies in the process.

As the first internal factor, the production system $(I4N_1)$ was divided into four basic types of production, namely job shop production, batch production, mass production, and continuous production. These four types comprise the elementary classification of production systems. The literature review showed that the larger the production volume, the greater the potential pressure to deploy intelligent technologies. However, this factor also fundamentally affects the second factor, which is product variability (I4N₂). This factor, although defined separately, is related to the type of production system. The greater the variability of products, the greater the potential pressure to deploy intelligent technologies in business processes.

The third factor is the existence of given production or logistics process (I4N₃). Here, the nature of this factor is very simple. If the process exists in the company, logically, potential pressure is created. If the process does not exist, the pressure is zero. As mentioned earlier in the book, we followed the known production and logistics process defined in our previous research. The processes involved in the I4N index are as follows: P1 – forecasting; P2 – product development; P3 – prototype production and evaluation; P4 – commercial prototype production planning; P5 – commercial prototype production and evaluation; P6 – demand management; P7 – tool management; P8 – material management; P9 – scheduling; P10 – manufacturing planning and control; P11 – manufacturing; P12 – converting manufacturing processes; P13 – non-conformity management; P14 – continuous improvement; P15 – reporting; P16 – maintenance; P17 – quality control; P18 – visual management; P19 – waste management; P20 – change management; P21 – purchasing; P22 – warehousing; P23 – dispatching; P24 – transportation; P25 – manipulation; and P26 – delivering.

The level of informatisation of the process $(I4N_4)$, as the fourth factor, represents the proportion of process activities which are informatised. Informatisation of an activity means that its input, transformation, and output are recorded in some information system (manually or automatically). The higher the level of informatisation, the less pressure there is to deploy intelligent technologies. This is similar with the fifth factor: level of process automation (I4N₅). The term automation of activities refers to an activity performed automatically without human labour. The higher the level of automated process activities, the less pressure there is to deploy intelligent technologies and vice versa. The sixth factor, the integration of a process into the MES/ERP $(I4N_6)$, is related to the fourth factor. We determined the sixth factor separately due to its uniqueness. Informatisation means that data are recorded in some isolated software and databases. If the information system is integrated and modular covering all organization needs, there is a high probability that intelligent technologies will be easier to use. We have defined a general category of such MES or ERP systems.

The last two factors are external pressure to implement I4. One of them is customers' request that intelligent technologies be used in the process $(I4N_7)$. Yes, the customer may require the organisation to deploy a specific type of intelligent technology in a specific process. This is how the customer and the organisation are connected. We consider this pressure to be one of the driving forces of I4 implementation. It is similar to the input. We determined suppliers' request to use intelligent technologies in the process (I4N₈) as the last factor. In the case of a supplier, mainly logistics processes are interconnected, but interconnection also occurs in production processes.

Calculating the I4N index is relatively simple. It is true that if the practical value of any of the factors for a given process is lower, the pressure to deploy intelligent technologies is greater. The sum of the partial factors yields the final value. This value represents the pressure to deploy intelligent technologies in a given process and can be interpreted as the improvement potential related to the process. As a result, we can also calculate the overall I4N index, which as an arithmetic average determines the potential through the whole set of involved/existing processes.

Mathematical formulas below from (10) to (19) apply to the calculation of individual partial values of exigency factors *I4N1*, *I4N2*, *I4N3*, *I4N4*, *I4N5*, *I4N6*, *I4N7*, and *I4N8*.

I4N₁: Production system

$$I4N_{ii} = 25 \lor 50 \lor 75 \lor 100 \,[\%] \tag{10}$$

where i = (1; 2; ...; n), n = 8 as a number of all exigency factors, j = (1; 2; ...; m), and m = 26 as a number of all processes; the value 25 represents job shop production, 50 represents continuous production, 75 represents batch production, and 100 represents mass production. The higher the value, the higher the pressure to introduce I4.

I4N₂: Product variability

$$I4N_{2i} = 25 \lor 50 \lor 100 \ [\%] \tag{11}$$

where the value of 25 represents low product variability (1; 10), 50 represents medium product variability (11; 50), and 100 represents high product variability (more than 50 standardised products). The higher the value, the higher the

pressure to introduce I4. This factor and its value are always the same for all processes. The factor $I4N_{2j}$ and I4N1 thus characterise the basic attributes of the production system.

I4N₃: Existence of the process

$$I4N_{3i} = P_{3i} \ge 100 \,[\%] \tag{12}$$

where $P_{3j} = 1 \lor 0$; if $P_{3j} = 1$, the given process is running in the organisation; if $P_{3j} = 0$, the given process is not running in the organisation. This factor can take only two extremes as its value, namely 0 or 100. If the value is 0, there is no pressure; if the value is 100, we calculate the maximum pressure, which is of course reduced by the weight of this factor in the I4N index.

I4N₄: Level of informatisation of the process

$$I4N_{4j} = 100 - P_{4j}[\%] \tag{13}$$

$$P_{4j} = \frac{\chi}{\tau} \tag{14}$$

where *Z* represents the number of all activities/steps of the given production or logistics process and *X* represents the number of activities whose inputs/outputs are recorded in some information system. The higher the value of P_{4j} , the lower the pressure to introduce I4. Therefore, in formula (13), we had to reverse this value from 100 in order for the value of $I4N_{4j}$ to correspond to the real amount of pressure to introduce I4.

I4N₅: Level of automation of the process

$I4N_{5j} = 100 - P_{5j} [\%]$ (15)

$$P_{5i} = \frac{Y}{Z} \tag{16}$$

where Z represents the number of all activities/steps of the given production or logistics process and Y represents the number of activities which are automated and done without human work. The higher the value of P_{5j} , the lower the pressure to introduce I4. Therefore, in formula (15), we subtracted this value from 100 so that the value of $I4N_{5i}$ corresponds to the real amount of pressure to introduce I4.

I4N₆: Integration of the process to the MES/ERP

$$I4N_{6i} = 100 - (P_{6i} \ge 100) \ [\%]; \tag{17}$$

where $P_{6j} = 1 \lor 0$; if $P_{6j} = 1$, then the given process is integrated into the MES/ERP; if $P_{6j} = 0$, then the given process is not integrated into the MES/ERP. This factor, like the one above, assumes two extremes: 0 and 100. If the process is integrated, then the pressure is at 0%, whilst if it is not integrated, then the pressure is at 100%. In the final calculation, the value is reduced by the weight. We do not consider partial levels of integration inot the MES/ERP, either the process is integrated or it is not.

I4N₇: Customer request to use intelligent technologies in the process

$$I4N_{7i} = P_{7i} \ge 100 \ [\%] \tag{18}$$

where $P_{7j} = 1 \lor 0$; if $P_{7j} = 1$, then some customer requests that intelligent technologies be used in the given process; if $P_{7j} = 0$, then no customers request that intelligent technologies be used in the given process. We believe that if any customer requires the use of intelligent technologies, it is a relevant pressure of 100%.

I4N_s: Supplier request to use intelligent technologies in the process

 $I4N_{si} = P_{si} \ge 100 \ [\%]$

where $P_{sj} = 1$ Ú 0; if $P_{sj} = 1$, then some supplier requests that intelligent technologies be used in the given process; if $P_{sj} = 0$, then no suppliers request that intelligent technologies be used in the given process. We believe that if any supplier requires the use of intelligent technologies, it is a relevant pressure of 100%.

(19)

The final calculation of the I4N index is represented by formula (20). In this equation, we took into account the weights of individual factors. These weights were obtained through the brief empirical research among the sample of industrial companies. *IN4j* is the value of the pressure for improvement related to Industry 4.0 of the given process *j*.

$$I4N_{j} = (0.15 \times I4N_{1j}) + (0.05 \times I4N_{2j}) + (0.1 \times I4N_{3j}) + (0.1 \times I4N_{j}) + (0.2 \times I4N_{5j}) + (0.15 \times I4N_{6j}) + (0.2 \times I4N_{7j}) + (0.05 \times I4N_{8j})$$
20)

F		ſ														
-	.15	I4N2,1	.05	I4N3,1		I4N4,1		I4N5,1	5	I4N6,1	.15	I4N7,1	5	I4N8,1	.05	I4N1
3	.15	I4N2,2	.05	I4N3,2	г.	I4N4,2	.1	I4N5,2	7	I4N6,2	.15	I4N7,2	5	I4N8,2	.05	I4N2
ŝ	.15	I4N2,3	.05	I4N3,3	г.	I4N4,3	Ŀ.	I4N5,3	5	I4N6,3	.15	I4N7,3	5	I4N8,3	.05	I4N ₃
	.15	•	.05	•		•	Ŀ	٠	7	٠	.15		9	•	.05	•
	.15		.05	٠	I.	·	Ŀ	1	5	٠	.15	·	5		.05	·
	.15	•	.05		Ŀ.	•	Ŀ.	•	7	٠	.15	•	4	6 8 6	.05	1.
IJ	.15	I4N2,j	.05	I4N _{3,j}	г.	I4N4j	г.	I4N5,j	5	I4N _{6j}	.15	$14N_{jj}$	i,	I4N _{8,j}	.05	I4Nj
	.15	·	.05		г.	•	г.	9	.2		.15	•	5	٠	.05	
	.15	•	.05	٠	I.	•	Ŀ.	•	5	•	.15	•	2	٠	.05	•
	.15		.05		I.		Ŀ		7	٠	.15		4	E.€.	.05	
a,	.15	I4N _{2,m}	.05	I4N _{3,m}	Ŀ	$I4N_{4,m}$		I4N5,m	.2	I4N _{6,m}	.15	$I4N_{7,m}$	2	I4N ^{8,m}	.05	$I4N_{\rm m}$
													ė	(I) I I and		m_14Nj
													5		-	

Figure 4.1 Theoretical matrix for calculating the I4N index

Again, the range of processes j is individual, because the I4N index can be applied to any process regardless of the total set of them. We used the known set of 26 production and logistics processes for verification. We know that factor I4N3 would not have to be used, but since we would like to calculate the overall I4N index as the arithmetic average of all *I4Nj*, it is necessary to know whether the process is or is not used by the organisation.

Based on the mathematical formula, we can create a theoretical matrix for the calculation, application, and interpretation of results. This matrix is shown in Figure 4.1.

Each calculated I4N index for a given process quantifies the pressure to implement the I4 concept. If an enterprise requires the determination of only one value, it can also calculate the overall I4N index as the arithmetic average of all partial I4N indexes, as shown in Figure 4.1. The number of *m* processes depends on the company and if any particular process does not take place there (the value of I4N3 is equal to zero), this process is added to the total number of *m* processes when calculating the overall I4N index.

However, this overall I4N index is not as relevant as partial I4Nj indexes, which take into account all factors and reality related to the process. By quantifying the partial I4Nj indexes, we determine the exigency of the process improvement related to I4.

4.3. Empirical research focused on gap analysis based on the Industry 4.0 necessity index

Our new I4N index can serve for a gap analysis of business process improvement. We conducted the gap analysis of the industrial enterprise, a multinational corporation. It is a medium-sized enterprise and it manufactures components for washing machines. The company has mass production and low product variability, as it focusses on precisely defined components specified by the customer.

After selecting an industrial enterprise, we identified all production and logistics processes running in the company. Our theoretical set of processes contains 26 production and logistics processes. We identified 20 processes running in the company under real conditions. From the theoretical set from our previous research, these included the following processes: P6 – demand management, P7 – tool management, P8 – material management, P9 – scheduling, P10 – manufacturing planning and control, P11 – manufacturing, P13 – non-conformity management, P14 – continuous improvement, P15 – reporting, P16 – maintenance, P17 – quality control, P18 – visual management, P19 – waste management, P20 – change management, P21 – purchasing, P22 – warehousing,

P23 – dispatching, P24 – transportation, P25 – manipulation, and P26 – delivering. The first group of processes – forecasting, product development, prototype production and evaluation, commercial prototype production planning, and commercial prototype production and evaluation – are not performed. This is because those processes are assured at the headquarters of the multinational company; the national branches are not responsible for these processes. We identified the set m = 20 processes.

For a simpler application of the I4N index, we decided to use a spreadsheet application, in which we transformed the mathematical equations into formulas between individual cells. The spreadsheet is shown in Figure 4.2.

After developing the tool in the spreadsheet programme, we validated it by determining the maximum and minimum values that individual exigency factors I4N1 through I4N8 can acquire.

The minimum value for any of the factors is 0 and the maximum value of the given *I4Nj* index for the given process is 100. By validating and defining the minimum and maximum values, we checked the internal structure of cells and their relations. Based on our validation we defined following intervals:

- $I4N_i = (0;50]$ low necessity for process improvement related to I4
- $I4N_i = (50;75]$ medium necessity for process improvement related to I4
- $I4N_i = (75;100)$ high necessity for process improvement related to I4.

We know that intervals form 0 to 100 are usually divided evenly to three same parts. However, we decided to determine the intervals so that the low necessity for process improvement related to I4 is defined on the first half of the permissible values, from 0 to 50. In this way we avoid creating enormous pressure on companies to automatically improve their processes. We defined the pressure as high at values from 75 to 100.

If we know the set of ongoing processes, we can use a tool in the spreadsheet to start with a real analysis of individual processes. The first two factors are common to all m = 20 processes. The factor I4N1j = 100 because it is mass production. The factor I4N2j = 25 because the variability of the products is low. The same applies to the existence of the process – all the processes involved in the company are present, so the factor I4N3j = 1.

We had to perform a detailed analysis for all other factors. In the analysis of the level of informatisation of the given process *I4N4j*, we identified the number of activities that the given process needs to have in order to achieve the required outputs. For each activity, we identified that it was recorded electronically. The proportion of informatised activities among all activities of a given process is shown in Table 4.1. We proceeded likewise in the quantification of the factor *I4N5j*, where we identified the degree of automation.

I			artial rocess sprovement kidencv	Guide	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	
9			I4N ₈ : Supplier request for using P of intelligent p technologies in in the process e	Yes = 1. No = 0	-	-	·	+		-	-		+	•		+	+	1		-	Ļ	-			•	-		-	•	1	
Ľ			I4N ₇ : Customer request for using of intelligent technologies in the process	Yes = 1. No = 0	-	-	÷		•		·	t			ŀ		+	+	•	F		+	F		•		·	-	t.	1	G
ш			14Ne: Process integration to the MES/ERP	Yes = 1, No = 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Graph
٥			I4N5: Level of the process	%	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Intervals
υ	100	100	14N4: Level of the process informatization	%	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	verif Lists
80	Mass Production	High	I4N ₃ : Existention of the process	Yes = 1. No = 0	-		•		·	•	•		-	-	-	-	-		•	-	F		F		-	-		-	-	1	I4N max I4N
A	uction system	ucts variability			sting	t development	pe production and evaluation	ercial prototype production planning	ercial prototype production and evaluation	d management	anagement	Imanagement	ling	acturing planning and control	acturing	erting manufacturing processes	informity management	nuous improvement	ting	anance	y Control	management	e management	te management	asing	nousing	tching	portation	ulation	ring	X-square Factors 14N min I
-	1 I4N ₁ : Produ	2 I4N ₂ : Produ	7	5	6 P1: Forecas	7 P2: Product	8 P3: Prototyp	9 P4: Comme	10 P5: Comme	11 P6: Demand	12 P7: Tool ma	13 P8: Material	14 P9: Schedul	15 P10: Manufa	16 P11: Manufa	17 P12: Convet	18 P13: Noncol	19 P14: Continu	20 P15: Report	21 P16: Mainter	22 P17: Quality	23 P18: Visual	24 P19: Waste	25 P20: Chang	26 P21: Purcha	27 P22: Wareh	28 P23: Dispatu	29 P24: Transp	30 P25: Manipu	31 P26: Deliver	4 2

Figure 4.2. Spreadsheet for the I4N index application

We already had a list of activities, so we calculated the proportion of those that take place without human intervention. The sixth factor was relatively easy to calculate, as *I4N6j* always takes a value of 1 or 0. We found that the company has a modular ERP system and some of its production and logistics processes are integrated into it. We did not examine the integration at the level of individual activities, but we examined whether the inputs and outputs of the process as a whole are recorded in the ERP system.

For the last two factors, *I4N7j* and *I4N8j*, we focussed on customer and supplier requirements. We investigated whether any customer or supplier required the application of intelligent technologies in any process. If so, we assigned a value of 1 to the given factor; if not, we assigned the factor a value of 0. We did not analyse the number of customers and suppliers in detail. We were also able to identify the proportion of customer makes such a request, we can see it as pressure to improve the process. The values of the individual I4N index factors are shown in Table 4.1.

	I4N4j	I4N5j	I4N6j	I4N7j	I4N8j
P6: Demand management	90	10	1	1	0
P7: Tool management	30	10	0	0	0
P8: Material management	80	10	1	0	1
P9: Scheduling	80	10	1	0	0
P10: Manufacturing planning and control	70	10	1	0	1
P11: Manufacturing	40	40	1	0	1
P13: Non-conformity management	20	10	0	1	1
P14: Continuous improvement	10	0	0	0	0
P15: Reporting	90	50	1	0	0
P16: Maintenance	50	10	1	0	0
P17: Quality Control	50	20	0	1	1
P18: Visual management	40	5	0	0	0
P19: Waste management	30	10	0	0	0
P20: Change management	40	10	1	0	0
P21: Purchasing	70	10	1	0	1
P22: Warehousing	80	5	1	0	1
P23: Dispatching	80	10	1	0	1
P24: Transportation	40	0	0	0	0
P25: Manipulation	20	20	0	0	0
P26: Delivering	80	0	1	1	0
Ratio [%]			60	20	40
Average [%]	55	13			

Table 4.1. Values for exigency factors I4N₄ through I4N₈₁

If we know the values of I4N factors for individual processes, we can also calculate – as optional information – the vertical values of factors as a ratio or average expressed as percentages. In the last two rows of Table 4.1 we can see the given exigency factor and its value for the whole set of m = 20 processes.

The total level of informatisation in the organisation is 55%; the level of automation is 13%; the degree to which processes are integrated into the ERP system is 60%; the pressure from customers is for 20% of processes; and the pressure from suppliers is for up to 40% of production and logistics processes.

Of course, pressure from customers and suppliers exists because the range of intelligent technologies used is low among the given processes. If we look at the processes horizontally, we can calculate the partial *I4Nj* indexes for specific *j* processes. The values are shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3. Values of the partial I4N, indexes

We interpret the value of any partial *I4Nj* index as pressure or exigency to improve a given process in relation to Industry 4.0. Improving the process in relation to I4 means deploying an intelligent technology. Bear in mind that the final values of the partial *I4Nj* indexes are reduced values according to the significance of individual factors. Figure 4.3 shows that P13 (non-conformity management) processes have a high necessity to implement intelligent technologies and improve the process P17 (quality control). A medium necessity for process improvement was found for processes P6 (demand management), P7 (tool management), P8 (material management), P10 (manufacturing planning and control), P11 (manufacturing), P14 (continuous improvement), P18 (visual management), P19 (waste management), P20 (change management), P21 (purchasing), P22 (warehousing), P23 (dispatching), P24 (transportation), P25 (manipulation), and P26 (delivering). Only three processes had a low necessity: P9 (scheduling), P15 (reporting), and P16 (maintenance). Our I4N index for quantification of process improvement exigency related to I4 is primarily applicable in industrial enterprises. As we stated earlier, this is not the limit for its application in other business environments. As we can see from the verification in a real company, it can answer the need to improve processes according to individual exigency factors related to I4.

As shown by the verification in Table 4.1 and Figure 4.3, we see that only two processes were identified as having a high need for improvement, with improvement meaning the deployment of intelligent technologies. Most processes were within the interval of a moderate need for improvement. If we analysed these partial *I4Nj* indexes, we would find that most of them are in the lower part of the interval. Three processes were identified with a low need for improvement related to I4. Of course, the need for improvement expressed in numbers does not refer to specific improvement measures. The I4N index highlights those processes that could be improved as a matter of priority. However, if we focus on specific I4N exigency factors in a specific process, then we will see which values are low and which are high. This way, we can get a detailed look at a specific process.

If we identified a high need for improvement in two processes (P13 – nonconformity management and P17 – quality control), we can analyse it in detail according to the importance of factors. Take the process P13 as an example: the most important factors are the level of informatisation and the level of automation. As we can see in Table 4.1, the values of these factors are 20% and 10%, respectively. Therefore, improvement in terms of increasing the share of informatisation and automation of P13 process activities seems to be critical. The way to do this depends on the management of the company. Other important factors are the requirements from customers or suppliers for the implementation of intelligent technologies. As we can see, the process P13 is under pressure from both the supplier and the customer. Therefore, the value of the partial I4N13 for P13 is very high. The priority of the company is therefore on processes that have values in the range of 75 to 100.

Of course, the company can also decide for one overall number, which will be the arithmetic average of the partial *I4Nj* indexes. In the case of our selected industrial enterprise, we calculated the overall I4N index as the arithmetic average of 20 values from Figure 4.3. The result for I4N of 56% can be assessed as medium or even low need to improve processes.

However, this arithmetic mean is only informative and it is important to know the partial values of the indexes so that we can decide to improve a particular process. The expansion of our I4N index presupposes making several adjustments if it is implemented in a company other than one with production and logistics processes. For example, if we wanted to define the I4N index in a company that provides services, we would have to define the following:

- the set of *m* processes that we want to subject to the quantification of process improvement exigency related to I4
- the factor I4N1, which would characterise the type of enterprise, for example, in terms of its size expressed by the number of employees
- the factor I4N2, which would characterise the variability of services provided or the variability of customer needs.

Conclusion

The main objectives of this scientific monograph were to describe the theoretical aspects of business process management and process performance management and to analyse the utilisation of business process models and intelligent technologies in business practice. The secondary output of this book is a new index for calculating exigency for Industry 4.0 principles in manufacturing companies.

The book introduces a novel approach to organisational development based on the systematic management of organisational maturity using PBOA for assessing organisational maturity. It brings a new structure (attributes) of requirements for a process-based organisation combined with the methodology of its use as an integral part of organisational development. PBOA works as an assessment tool for auditing the level of maturity of the organisation as well as a knowledge base for its consequential development. As the main output of the organisation audit process according to PBOA, the audit report contains detailed information about particular aspects of the identified level of process orientation, and about their importance for the further development of the organisation. The audit thus results not only in determining the level of process orientation, but also in a detailed identification of specific strengths and weaknesses connected with the identified state. This information should be exploited to focus the further development efforts in terms of the general principles of the organisational maturity model. In this way, the organisation gains a powerful tool for designing sophisticated strategies for further organisational development actions under the rules of the maturity model. At the same time, each audit also yields an important experience which should be used for the improvement and further development of the standard itself. This ensures that even the standard has the same dynamics as all other aspects of the process-based organisation. This book reviews the initial methodological resources concerning the organisational maturity models in the field of process-orientated management and discusses the crucial role of standards in the organisational development. Then the essence and the content of the standard are explained together with the rules for its use.

This book also answers two questions: What are the attributes of the performance indicators and what is the minimum set of attributes of the performance indicator that would indicate a consistent performance management system? We determined 21 attributes that are necessary for a consistent PMS. The main implications for companies as an output of our book is the knowledge of 21 attributes, by which it is able to describe all PIs involved in a PMS, the specification of a minimum set of attributes that are important to determine for all PIs in order to make PMS consistent. Companies can select their own set of defined attributes of the PI; however, the sense of consistency is that they use this set for all indicators.

We also focussed on increasing business process performance. We chose a specific view of business processes, namely that of the pressure to implement intelligent technologies. It is intelligent technologies that represent Industry 4.0 as its tangible and real attributes. In this monograph, we did not examine individual intelligent technologies. We know that there are a number of indexes and frames that can, as a result, create a road map leading to the introduction of Industry 4.0. However, we analysed these aspects in terms of the pressure that can actually act on the processes. We cannot determine in advance what measures the company must take, but we can identify where there is the greatest urgency to improve the process. Those ideas we transformed to the new I4N index.

References

- Abdullah, M., Hamid, M. R., Mustafa, Z., Husain, N., Idris, F., Suradi, N. R. M. & Ismail, W. R. (2012). Value-based total performance excellence model: A conceptual framework for organisations. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(5–6), 557–572
- Adams, R., Bessant, J. & Phelps, R. (2006). Innovation management measurement: A review. International Journal of Management Reviews, 8 (1), 21–47. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2370.2006.00119.x.
- Aldin, L. & Cesare, S. (2011). A literature review on business process modelling: new frontiers of reusability. *Enterprise Information Systems*, 5(3), 359–383.
- Alfaro-Saiz, J.J., Carot-Sierra, J. M., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, R. & Jabaloyes-Vivas, J M. (2011). Seeking organisational excellence by using the information coming from the EFQM excellence model as starting point: application to a real case. *Total Quality Management* & *Business Excellence*, 22(8), 853–868.
- Almada-Lobo, F. (2016). The Industry 4.0 revolution and the future of Manufacturing Execution Systems. *Journal of Innovation Management*, 3(4), 16–21. Retrieved from http://www.open-jim.org/article/view/249.
- Antonacci, F., Pellegrini, A. & Quaglia, F. (2013). Consistent and efficient output-streams management in optimistic simulation platforms. 2013 ACM SIGSIM Conference on Principles of Advanced Discrete Simulation, Montreal.
- Asdecker, B. & Felch, V. (2018). Development of an Industry 4.0 maturity model for the delivery process in supply chains. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 13(4), 840–883. https://doi.org/10.1108/jm2-03-2018-0042.
- Augenstein, C., Ludwig, A. & Franczyk, B. (2012, July). Integration of service models –Preliminary results for consistent logistics service management. 2012 Annual SRII Global Conference, San Jose.
- Basl, J. & Doucek, P. (2019). A metamodel for evaluating enterprise readiness in the context of Industry 4.0. *Information*, 10(3), 89. https://doi.org/10.3390/info10030089
- Berry, A. J., Coad, A. F., Harris, E. P., Otley, D. T. & Stringer, C. (2009). Emerging themes in management control: A review of recent literature. *British Accounting Review*, 41, 2–20. doi:10.1016/j.bar.2008.09.001.

- Bibby, L. & Dehe, B. (2018). Defining and assessing Industry 4.0 maturity levels case of the defence sector. *Production Planning & Control*, 29(12), 1030-1043. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09537287.2018.1503355.
- Bisbe, J. & Otley, D. (2004). The effects of the interactive use of management control systems on product innovation. *Accounting, Organisations and Society*, 29(8), 709-737.
- Blockley, D. (1999). Process modelling from reflective practice for engineering quality. *International Journal of Production Research*, 46(10), 2743–2764.
- Boledovič, Ľ. (2013). Efektívny systém údržby vo Vašom podniku. In *Průmyslové inženýrství*, 2013(3), 44.
- Brettel, M., Friederichsen, N., Keller, M. & Rosenberg, M. (2014). How Virtualization, Decentralization and Network Building Change the Manufacturing Landscape: An Industry 4.0 Perspective. *International Journal of Mechanical, Aerospace, Industrial, Mechatronic and Manufacturing Engineering*, 8(1), 37–44. Retrieved from: http://www. waset.org/publications/9997144.
- Carda, A. & Kunstová, R. (2003). Workflow. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2003. 155 s. ISBN 80-247-0666-0.
- Cardwell, G. (2008). The influence of enterprise architecture and process hierarchies on company success. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 19(1–2), 47–55.
- Chen, T. & Lin Y. (2017) Feasibility evaluation and optimization of a smart manufacturing system based on 3D printing: A review. *International Journal of Intelligent Systems*, 32(4), 394–413. doi: 10.1002/int.21866.
- Chenhall, R.H. (2003). Management control systems design within its organisational context: findings from contingency-based research and directions for the future. *Accounting, Organisations and Society*, 28(2–3), 127–168.
- Chenhall, R.H. (2005). Integrative strategic performance measurement systems, strategic alignment of manufacturing, learning and strategic outcomes: an exploratory study. *Accounting, Organisations and Society*, 30(5), 395–422.
- Chenhall, R.H. & Euske, K.J. (2007). The role of management control systems in planned organisational change: an analysis of two organisations. *Accounting, Organisations and Society*, 32(7–8), 601–637.
- Chong, M. Y., Chin, J. F. & Hamzah, H. S. (2012). Transfer of total productive maintenance practice to supply chain. In *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(3/4), 467–488.
- Cienciala, J. et al. (2011). Procesne řízená organizace. Tvorba, rozvoj a Měřitelnost procesů. Praha: Professional Publishing, 2011. 204 s. ISBN 978-80-7431-044-7.
- Cimini, C., Boffelli, A., Lagorio, A., Kalchschmidt, M. & Pinto, R. (2020). How do Industry 4.0 technologies influence organisational change? An empirical analysis of Italian SMEs. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*. Advance online publication. https:// doi.org/10.1108/jmtm-04-2019-0135.

- Colli, M., Berger, U., Bockholt, M., Madsen, O., Moller, C. & Waehrens, B. V. (2019). A maturity assessment approach for conceiving context-specific roadmaps in the Industry 4.0 era. *Annual Reviews in Control*, 48, 165-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. arcontrol.2019.06.001.
- Crossan, M. M. & Apaydin, M. (2010). A multi-dimensional framework of organisational innovation: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Management Studies*, 47(6), 1154-1191. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2009.00880.x.
- Culot, G., Nassimbeni, G., Orzes, G., & Sartor, M. (2020). Behind the definition of Industry 4.0: Analysis and open questions. *International Journal of Production Economics*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107617.
- Damanpour, F. & Aravind, D. (2012). Managerial Innovation: Conceptions, processes, and antecedents. *Management and Organisation Review*, 8(2), 423–454. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-8784.2011.00233.x.
- Damanpour, F., Walker, R. M. & Avellaneda, C. N. (2009). Combinative effects of innovation types on organisational performance: A longitudinal study of public services. *Journal of Management Studies* 46(4), 650–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2008.00814.x.
- Doeleman, H.J., Have, S. & Ahaus, K. (2012). The moderating role of leadership in the relationship between management control and business excellence. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(5-6), 591–611.
- Doltsinis, S., Ferreira, P., Mabkhot, M. M. & Lohse, N. (2020). A Decision Support System for rapid ramp-up of Industry 4.0 enabled production systems. *Computers In Industry*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2020.103190.
- Ekeland, I., Mbodji, O. & Pirvu, T. A. (2012). Time-consistent portfolio management. *SIAM Journal on Financial Mathematics*, *3*, 1–32. doi:10.1137/100810034.
- Ellis, J. A., Villeneuve, K., Newhook, K. & Ulrichsen, J. (2007). Pain Management Practices for Lumbar Punctures: Are We Consistent?. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, *22*, 479–487. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2007.04.009.
- Evans, J.R., Ford, M. W., Masterson, S. S. & Hertz, H. S. (2012). Beyond performance excellence: research insights from Baldrige recipient feedback. *Total Quality Management* & *Business Excellence*, 23(5-6), 489–506.
- Facchini, F., Oleskow-Szlapka, J., Ranieri, L. & Urbinati, A. (2020). A maturity model for Logistics 4.0: an empirical analysis and a roadmap for future research. *Sustainability*, 12(1), 86. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12010086.
- Fallaha, S. M. (2015, January). *Multi agent based control architectures*. Paper presented at the meeting of the International DAAAM Symposium, Vienna, pp. 1166–1170.
- Ferreira, A. & Otley, D. (2009). The design and use of performance management systems: An extended framework for analysis. *Management Accounting Research*, 20, 263–282. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2009.07.003.
- Ferreira F., Faria J., Azevedo A. & Marques A.L. (2016). Product lifecycle management enabled by industry 4.0 technology. *Transdisciplinary Engineering*, pp. 349–354. Advance online publication. doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-668-2-349.

- Fibírová, J. (2003). Reporting moderní metóda hodnocení výkonnosti uvnitř firmy. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2003.
- Flapper, P. S., Fortuin, L. & Stoop, P. (1996) Towards consistent performance management systems. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 16(7), 27–37.
- Frederico, G. F., Garza-Reyes, J. A., Anosike, A. & Kumar, V. (2019). Supply Chain 4.0: concepts, maturity and research agenda. Supply Chain Management – an International Journal, 25(2), 262–282. https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-09-2018-0339.
- Freiesleben, J. (2005). The Economic Effects of Quality Improvement. In *Total Quality Management*, 16(7), 915–922.
- Gajsek, B., Marolt, J., Rupnik, B., Lerher, T. & Sternad, M. (2019). Using maturity model and discrete-event simulation for Industry 4.0 implementation. *International Journal of Simulation Modelling*, 18(3), 488–499. https://doi.org/10.2507/ ijsimm18(3)489.
- Ganzarain, J. & Errasti, N. (2016). Three stage maturity model in sme's towards Industry 4.0. Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management-JIEM, 9(5), 1119–1128. https://doi. org/10.3926/jiem.2073.
- Ghinato, P. (1998). Quality Control Methods: Towards Modern approaches through well established principles. In *Total Quality Management*, 9(6), 463–477.
- Ghobakhloo, M. (2020). Industry 4.0, digitization, and opportunities for sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2019.119869.
- Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez, L. J., Tamayo Torres, I. & Barrales Molina, V. (2010). Quality management initiatives in Europe: An empirical analysis according to their structural elements. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(6), 577–601.
- Gotzamani, K. (2010). Results of an empirical investigation on the anticipated improvement areas of the ISO 9001:2000 standard. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(6), 687–704.
- Hahn, G. J. (2019). Industry 4.0: a supply chain innovation perspective. International Journal of Production Research, 58(5), 1425–1441. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543. 2019.1641642.
- Hammer, M. & Champy, J. (1993). Re-engineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution. New York: Harper Business.
- Hammer, M. (2007). The Process Audit. Harvard Business Review, 85(4), 111-123.
- Harikannan, N., Vinodh, S. & Gurumurthy, A. (2020). Sustainable Industry 4.0-an exploratory study for uncovering the drivers for integration. *Journal of Modelling in Management*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/jm2-11-2019-0269.
- Hao, Y. & Helo, P. (2017). The role of wearable devices in meeting the needs of cloud manufacturing: A case study. *Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing*, 45, 168–179. doi: 10.1016/j.rcim.2015.10.001.

- Heras-Saizarbitoria, I., Casadesús, M. & Marimón, F. (2011). The impact of ISO 9001 standard and the EFQM model: The view of the assessors. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 22(2), 197–218.
- Heras-Saizarbitoria, I., Marimón, F. & Casadesús, M. (2012). An empirical study of the relationships within the categories of the EFQM model. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(5-6), 523-540.
- Herceg, I. V., Kuc, V., Mijuskovic, V. M. & Herceg, T. (2020). Challenges and driving forces for Industry 4.0 implementation. *Sustainability*, 12(10), 4208. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su12104208.
- Hermansson, H. (2005). Consistent risk management: Three models outlined. *Journal of Risk Research*, *8*, 557–568. doi:10.1080/13669870500085189.
- Hizam-Hanafiah, M., Soomro, M. A. & Abdullah, N. L. (2020). Industry 4.0 Readiness Models: A Systematic Literature Review of Model Dimensions. *Information*, 11(7), 364. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11070364.
- Holzkämper, A., Surridge, B., Paetzold, A., Kumar, V., Lerner, D. N., Maltby, L., Wainwright, J. & Harris, R. (2008, July). A consistent framework for knowledge integration to support integrated catchment management. 4th Biennial Meeting of International Congress on Environmental Modelling and Software: Integrating Sciences and Information Technology for Environmental Assessment and Decision Making, Barcelona.
- Hoonakker, P., Carayon, P. & Loushine, T. (2010). Barriers and benefits of quality management in the construction industry: An empirical study. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(9), 953–969.
- Hoyer, C., Gunawan, I. & Reaiche, C. H. (2020). The Implementation of Industry 4.0-A Systematic Literature Review of the Key Factors. Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 37(4), 557–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2701.
- Hrdinová, G., Moravčík, O., Sakál, P. & Štefanková, J. (2014). Why should change strategy unrestricted growth on a sustainable development strategy. Výkonnosť podniku, 4 (1) 53–68. Retrieved from http://www.vusem.sk/public/userfiles/files/VP1_2014.pdf.
- Hughes, L., Dwivedi, Y. K., Rana, N. P., Williams, M. D. & Raghavan, V. (2020). Perspectives on the future of manufacturing within the Industry 4.0 era. *Production Planning* & *Control.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2020.1810762.
- Hung, Y. R., Chung, T. & Lien, B. Y. (2007). Organisational process alignment and dynamic capabilities in high-tech industry. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 18(9), 1023–1034.
- Ihaddadene, N. (2008). Extraction of business process models from workflow events logs. International Journal of Parallel, Emergent and Distributed Systems, 23 (3), 247–258.
- Ishikawa, F. (2010, December). *Consistent integration of selection and replacement methods under different expectations in service composition and partner management life-cycle*. 8th International Conference on Service Orientated Computing, San Francisco.
- Ivascu, L. (2020). Measuring the implications of sustainable manufacturing in the context of Industry 4.0. *Processes*, 8(5), 585. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8050585.

- Jain, V. & Ajmera, P. (2020). Modelling the enablers of Industry 4.0 in the Indian manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-07-2019-0317.
- Jena, M. C., Mishra, S. K. & Moharana, H. S. (2020). Application of Industry 4.0 to enhance sustainable manufacturing. *Environmental Progress & Sustainable Energy*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/ep.13360.
- Jeon, J., Kim, Ch. & Lee, H. (2011). Measuring efficiency of total productive maintenance (TPM): a three-stage data envelopment analysis (DEA) approach. In *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 22(8), 911–924.
- Jesus, C. & Lima, R. M. (2020). Literature search of key factors for the development of generic and specific maturity models for Industry 4.0. *Applied Sciences-Basel*, 10(17), 5825, https://doi.org/10.3390/app10175825.
- Ji, X., Ye, H., Zhou, J. & Deng W. (2016). Digital management technology and its application to investment casting enterprises. *China Foundry*, 13(5), 301–309. doi: 10.1007/s41230-016-6011-0.
- Jirarat, T., Ketlada, K. & Nuttapon S. (2011). Relationship model and supporting activities of JIT, TQM and TPM. In *Songklanakarin Journal of Science & Technology*, 33(1), 101–106.
- Kagermann, H. (2013) Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0. Final Report of the Industrie 4.0. Frankfurt: Working Group Heilmeyer und Sernau.
- Kane, G. C., Palmer, D., Phillips, A. N. & Kiron, D. (2015). Is your business ready for a digital future? *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 56, 37. Retrieved from: http://sloanreview.mit. edu/article/is-your-business-ready-for-a-digital-future.
- Kaplan, R.S & Norton, D.P. (1996). *The Balanced Scorecard: Translating Strategy into Action*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Kaplan, R.S. & Norton, D.P. (2000). Strategy-focused Organisation: How Balanced Scorecard Companies Thrive in the New Business Environment. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Kaplan, R.S. & Norton, D.P. (2004). How strategy maps frame an organisation's objectives. *Financial Executive*, 20(2), 40–45.
- Karapetrovic, S., Casadesús Fa, M. & Heras Saizarbitoria, I. (2010) What happened to the ISO 9000 lustre? An eight-year study. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(3), 245–267.
- Keřkovský, M. & Valsa, O. (2012). Moderní přístupy k řízení výroby. Praha : C. H. Beck. 2012.
- Kiraz, A., Canpolat, O., Ozkurt, C., Taskin, H. & Sarp, E. (2020). Examination of the criteria affecting Industry 4.0 with structural equation model and a pilot study. *Journal of the Faculty of Engineering and Architecture of Gazi University*, 35(4), 2183–2196.
- Kletti, J. (2015). MES aber richtig!: Industrie 4.0 braucht horizontale integration. MES 4.0 – but do it the right way!. [MES 4.0 – but do it the right way!]. *Productivity Management*, 20(4), 53-56. Retrieved from: http://www.elektroniknet.de/markt-technik/industrie-40iot/mes-aber-richtig-125609.html.

- Kosacka-Olejnik, M. & Pitakaso, R. (2019). Industry 4.0: state of the art and research implications. *Logforum*, 15(4), 475-485, https://doi.org/10.17270/j.log.2019.363.
- Kolberg, D. & Zühlke D. (2015). Lean automation enabled by industry 4.0 technologies. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 28(3), 1870-1875. doi: 10.1016/j.ifacol.2015.06.359.
- Košturiak, J. et al. (2006). Štíhly a inovativní podnik. Praha : Alfa Publishing, 2006.
- Košturiak, J. (2010). Najlepšie praktiky niekedy škodia. In *Průmyslové inženýrství*, 1(2), 10–12.
- Kruger, S. & Steyn, A. A. (2020). A conceptual model of entrepreneurial competencies needed to utilise technologies of Industry 4.0. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/1465750320927359.
- Kuo, C. M., Chen, W. Y., Tseng, C. Y. & Kao, C. T. (2020). Developing a smart system with Industry 4.0 for customer dissatisfaction. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/imds-12-2019-0656.
- Kupkovič, M. et al. (2003). Podnikové hospodárstvo. Bratislava : Sprint vfra. 2003.
- Lasi, H., Fettke, P., Kemper, H. G., Feld, T. & Hoffmann, M. (2014). Industry 4.0. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 6(4), 239-242. doi: 10.1007/s11576-014-0424-4.
- Lee, J., Kao, H. & Yang, S. (2014, May). Service innovation and smart analytics for Industry 4.0 and big data environment. Product Services Systems and Value Creation Proceedings. Paper presented at the 6th CIRP Conference on Industrial Product-Services, Canada.
- Leflar, J. A. (2001). *Practical TPM*: Successful Equipment Management at Agilent Technologies. Portland, Or: Productivity Press, 2001.
- Looy, A. V., Backer, M. & Poels, G. (2011). Defining business process maturity. A journey towards excellence. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 22(11), 1119–1137.
- Lu, S., Liu, X. & Yang, Z. (2008). Study on consistent and integrated traffic management model. *Journal of Wuhan University of Technology*, *32*(*2*), 251–254.
- Lucke, D., Constantinescu, C. & Westkämper, E. (2008, May) Smart Factory A Step towards the Next Generation of Manufacturing. Manufacturing Systems and Technologies for the New Frontier. Paper presented at the 41st CIRP Conference on Manufacturing Systems, Japan, 115–118.
- Ma, H. Q., Wu, M. & Huang, N. J. (2013). Time consistent strategies for mean-variance assetliability management problems. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2013, 1–16. doi: 10.1155/2013/709129.
- Mana, R., Cesar, F. I. G., Makiya, I. K. & Volpe, W. (2018). The concept of the Industry 4.0 in a german multinational instrumentation and control company: a case study of a subsidiary in Brazil. *Independent Journal of Management & Production*, 9(3), 933–957. https://doi.org/10.14807/ijmp.v9i3.665.
- Maly, I., Sedlacek, D. & Leitao, P. (2017, July). *Augmented reality experiments with industrial robot in industry 4.0 environment*. Paper presented at the IEEE International Conference on Industrial Informatics (INDIN), France, pp. 176–181.

- Magnier-Watanabe, R. & Senoo, D. (2007, July). *The effect of consistent knowledge management behaviors on competitive advantage*. 11th Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems: Managing Diversity in Digital Enterprises, Auckland.
- Mittal, S., Khan, M. A., Romero, D. & Wuest, T. (2018). A critical review of smart manufacturing & Industry 4.0 maturity models: Implications for small and mediumsized enterprises (SMEs). *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 49, 194–214. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2018.10.005.
- Mo, L., Li, C. & Xie, X. (2016, August). Localization of passive UHF RFID tags on the assembly line. Paper presented at the International Symposium on Flexible Automation, USA, pp. 141–144.
- Moller, D. P. F. (2016). Digital Manufacturing/Industry 4.0. In Guide to Computing Fundamentals in Cyber-Physical Systems (307–375). Swizerland: Springer.
- Murashov, V., Hearl, F. & Howard, J. (2016). Working safely with robot workers: Recommendations for the new workplace. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, 13(3), 61-71. doi: 10.1080/15459624.2015.1116700.
- Nafchi, M. Z. & Mohelska, H. (2020). Organisational culture as an indication of readiness to implement Industry 4.0. *Information*, 11(3), 174. https://doi.org/10.3390/info11030174.
- Nagel, L. R., Hutcheson, R., McAdams A. D. & Stone, R. (2011). Process and event modelling for conceptual design. *Journal of Engineering Design*. 22(3), 145–164.
- Narula, S., Prakash, S., Dwivedy, M., Talwar, V. & Tiwari, S. P. (2020). Industry 4.0 adoption key factors: an empirical study on manufacturing industry. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/jamr-03-2020-0039.
- Nazarov, D. & Klarin, A. (2020). Taxonomy of Industry 4.0 research: Mapping scholarship and industry insights. Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 37(4), 535–556. https:// doi.org/10.1002/sres.2700.
- Otley, D. (1994). Management control in contemporary organisations: towards a wider framework. *Management Accounting Research*, 5(3-4), 289–299.
- Otley, D. (2008). Did Kaplan and Johnson get it right? *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 21(2), 229–239.
- Pacchini, A. P. T., Lucato, W. C., Facchini, F. & Mummolo, G. (2019). The degree of readiness for the implementation of Industry 4.0. *Computers in Industry*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2019.103125.
- Palmberg, K. (2010). Experiences of implementing process management: a multiple-case study. In *Business Process Management Journal*, 16(1), 93–113.
- Papendieck, M. & Schulze, M. (2014, February). Concepts for consistent variant-management tool integrations. Software Engineering Workshops, Kiel.
- Pech, M. & Vrchota, J. (2020). Classification of small- and medium-sized enterprises based on the level of Industry 4.0 implementation. *Applied Sciences-Basel*, 10(15), 5150. https:// doi.org/10.3390/app10155150.

- Perdomo-Ortiz, J., Gonzalez-Benito, J. & Galende, J. (2009). The intervening effect of business innovation capability on the relationship between Total Quality Management and technological innovation. In *International Journal of Production Research*, 47(18), 5087–5107.
- Pessot, E., Zangiacomi, A., Battistella, C., Rocchi, V., Sala, A. & Sacco, M. (2020). What matters in implementing the factory of the future insights from a survey in European manufacturing regions. *Journal Of Manufacturing Technology Management*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmtm-05-2019-0169.
- Peukert, S., Trebel, S., Balz, S., Haefner, B. & Lanza, G. (2020). Process model for the successful implementation and demonstration of SME-based Industry 4.0 showcases in global production networks. *Production Engineering-Research And Development*, 14(3).
- Polák, J., Merunka, V. & Carda, A. (2003). Umění systémového návrhu. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2003.
- Ponsignon, F., Smart, P. A. & Maull, R.S. (2012). Process design principles in service firms: Universal or context dependent? A literature review and new research directions. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(11–12), 1273–1296.
- Posada, J., Toro, C., Barandiaran, I., Oyarzun, D., Stricker, D. & De Amicis, R. (2015). Visual computing as a key enabling technology for industrie 4.0 and industrial internet. *Computer Graphics and Applications, IEEE*, 35(2), 26–40. doi: 10.1109/MCG.2015.45.
- Qin, J., Liu, Y. & Grosvenor, R. (2016). A Categorical Framework of Manufacturing for Industry 4.0 and Beyond. Procedia CIRP (52). Paper presented at the Changeable, Agile, Reconfigurable & Virtual Production Conference.
- Queiroz, M. M., Wamba, S. F., Machado, M. C. & Telles, R. (2020). Smart production systems drivers for business process management improvement An integrative framework. *Business Process Management Journal*. Advance online publication. https://doi. org/10.1108/bpmj-03-2019-0134.
- Rafael, L. D., Jaione, G. E., Cristina, L. & Ibon, S. L. (2020). An Industry 4.0 maturity model for machine tool companies. *Technological Forecasting And Social Change*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120203.
- Raj, A., Dwivedi, G., Sharma, A., Jabbour, A. B. L. D. & Rajak, S. (2020). Barriers to the adoption of Industry 4.0 technologies in the manufacturing sector: An inter-country comparative perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.107546.
- Ramingwong, S., Manopiniwes, W. & Jangkrajarng, V. (2019). Human factors of Thailand toward Industry 4.0. *Management Research and Practice*, 11(1), 15–25.
- Ramon, J. & Arboledas, P. (2007). Consistencia: La estrategia de la empresa es la estrategia sobre sus personas [Consistency: The company strategy is a strategy for people]. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Rauch, E., Unterhofer, M., Rojas, R. A., Gualtieri, L., Woschank, M. & Matt, D. T. (2020). A maturity level-based assessment tool to enhance the implementation of Industry 4.0 in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Sustainability*, 12(9), 3559. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12093559.

- Recker, J., Rosemann, M., Indulska M. & Green, P. (2009). Business Process Modeling – A Comparative Analysis. In *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 10(4), 333–363.
- Řepa, V. (2006). Podnikové procesy. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2006.
- Řepa, V. (2012). Procesně řízená organizace. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2012.
- Řepa, V. (2011). Role of the Concept of Service in Business Process Management. Information Systems Development. New York: Springer, LNCS. 623–634.
- Řepa, V. & Závadský, J. (2014). Organisational development through maturity management. In *Quality management and organisational development* = 17th QMOD-ICQSS: proceedings, [conference] 3rd / 5th September, 2014, Prague. Lund: Lund University Library Press.
- Rudy, V., Malega, P. & Kováč, J. (2012). Výrobný manažment. Košice: Technická univerzita v Košiciach. 2012.
- Safari, H, Abdollahi, B. & Ghasemi, R. (2012). Canonical correlation analysis between people criterion and people results criterion in EFQM model. *Total Quality Management* & *Business Excellence*, 23(5–6), 541–555.
- Sampaio, P., Saraiva, P. & Rodrigues, A. G. (2010). A classification model for prediction of certification motivations from the contents of ISO 9001 audit reports. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 21(12), 1279–1298.
- Sampaio, P., Saraiva, P. & Rodrigues, A. G. (2009). An analysis of ISO 9000 data in the world and the European Union. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 20(12), 1303–1320.
- Santos, R. C. & Martinho, J. L. (2019). An Industry 4.0 maturity model proposal. Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management. Advance online publication. https://doi. org/10.1108/jmtm-09-2018-0284.
- Schott, P., Lederer, M., Eigner, I. & Bodendorf, F. (2020). Case-based reasoning for complexity management in Industry 4.0. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmtm-08-2018-0262.
- Simetinger, F. & Zhang, Z. P. (2020). Deriving secondary traits of Industry 4.0: A comparative analysis of significant maturity models. *Systems Research and Behavioral Science*, 37(4), 663–678. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2708.
- Sivaram, N. M., Devadasan, S. R. & Murugesh, R. (2013). Conceptualisation for Implementing Total Productive Maintenance through the ISO 9001:2008 standard-based quality management system. In South African Journal of Industrial Engineering, 24(2), 33–46.
- Sjodin, D. R., Parida, V., Leksell, M. & Petrovic, A. (2018). Smart factory implementation and process innovation a preliminary maturity model for leveraging digitalization in manufacturing. *Research-Technology Management*, 61(5), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.108 0/08956308.2018.1471277.

- Sony, M. & Naik, S. (2020). Key ingredients for evaluating Industry 4.0 readiness for organisations: a literature review. *Benchmarking-An International Journal*, 27(7), 2213–2232. https://doi.org/10.1108/bij-09-2018-0284.
- Staněk, V. (2003). Zvyšování výkonnosti procesním řízením nákladů. Praha: Grada publishing, 2003.
- Stentoft, J., Wickstrom, K. A., Philipsen, K. & Haug, A. (2020). Drivers and barriers for Industry 4.0 readiness and practice: empirical evidence from small and medium-sized manufacturers. *Production Planning & Control*. Advance online publication. https://doi. org/10.1080/09537287.2020.1768318.
- Stentoft, J., Wickstrom, K. A., Haug, A. & Philipsen, K. (2020). Cost-driven motives to relocate manufacturing abroad among small- and medium-sized manufacturers. The influence of Industry 4.0. *Journal Of Manufacturing Technology Management*. Advance.
- Stender, J. (2008, July). *Efficient management of consistent backups in a distributed file system*. 33rd Annual IEEE International Computer Software and Applications Conference, Seattle.
- Stock, T. & Seliger, G. (2016, September). Opportunities of Sustainable Manufacturing in Industry 4.0. In Procedia CIRP 40. Paper presented at the 13th Global Conference on Sustainable Manufacturing – Decoupling Growth form Resource Use, Vietnam.
- Strnadl, F. C. (2006). Aligning business and it: The process-driven architecture model. *Information Systems Management*, 23(4), 67–77.
- Tatarkin, A. I., Polyanskaya, I. G., Ignatyeva, M. N. & Yurak, V. V. (2014). Consistent assessment of the status and prospects of institutional and innovational subsurface resourcesmanagement in the Arctic zone. *Economy of Region, 3,* 146–158.
- Tomek, G. & Vávrová, V. (2014). *Integrované řízení výroby*. Praha: Grada Publishing a. s. 2014.
- Tortorella, G. L., Giglio, R. & Dun, D. H. (2019). Industry 4.0 adoption as a moderator of the impact of lean production practices on operational performance improvement. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 39(6/7/8), 860-886. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijopm-01-2019-0005.
- Tortorella, G., Miorando, R. & Mac Cawley, A. F. (2019). The moderating effect of Industry 4.0 on the relationship between lean supply chain management and performance improvement. *Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, 24(2), 301–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/scm-01-2018-0041.
- Tupa, J. & Steiner, F. (2019). Industry 4.0 and Business Process Management. Tehnicki Glasnik-Technical Journal. 13(4), 349–355. https://doi.org/10.31803/tg-
- Turner, C. J., Hutabarat, W., Oyekan, J. & Tiwari, A. (2016). Discrete event simulation and virtual reality use in industry: New opportunities and future trends. *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems*, 46(6), 882–894. doi: 10.1109/THMS.2016.2596099.
- Učeň, P. (2008). Zvyšování výkonnosti firmy na bázi potenciálů zlepšení. Praha: Grada Publishing, 2008.
- Valdez, A. C., Brauner, P., Schaar, A. K., Holzinger, A. & Zieflea, M. (2015). *Reducing Complexity withsimplicity-Usability Methods for Industry 4.0*. Paper presented at the 19th Triennial Congress of the IEA, Melbourne, 9–14.
- Vasin, S., Gamidullaeva, L., Shkarupeta, E., Palatkin, I. & Vasina, T. (2018). Emerging Trends and Opportunities for Industry 4.0 Development in Russia, *European Research Studies Journal*, Volume XXI, Issue 3, 63–76.
- Vernim, S. & Reinhart, G. (2016). Usage frequency and user-friendliness of mobile devices in assembly. *Procedia CIRP*, 57, 510-515. doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2016.11.088.
- Vysocky, A. & Novak, P. (2016). Human robot collaboration in industry. *MM Science Journal*, 9(2) 903–906. doi: 10.17973/MMSJ.2016_06_201611.
- Wagire, A. A., Joshi, R., Rathore, A. P. S. & Jain, R. (2020). Development of maturity model for assessing the implementation of Industry 4.0: learning from theory and practice. *Production Planning & Control.* Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09 537287.2020.1744763.
- Wang, W. T. Evaluating organisational performance during crises: A multi-dimensional framework. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(5–6), 673–688.
- Wang, H., Liu, L., Fei, Y. & Liu, T. (2016). A collaborative manufacturing execution system orientated to discrete manufacturing enterprises. *Concurrent Engineering Research and Applications*, 24(4), 330-343. doi: 10.1177/1063293X16640591.
- Weber, E. (2015). Industrie 4.0–Wirkungen auf Wirtschaft und Arbeitsmarkt [Industry 4.0 Impact on the economy and labor market]. Wirtschaftsdienst, 95, 722–723. doi: 10.1007/ s10273-015-1894-8.
- Weißenberger, B. E. & Angelkort, H. (2011). Integration of financial and managemet accounting systems: The mediating influence of a consistentfinancial language on controllership effectiveness. *Management Accounting Research*, 22, 160–180. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2011.03.003.
- Wu, S.I. & Chen, J.H. (2011). Comparison between manufacturing companies that are ISO certified and those that are not certified using performance measurement model. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 22(8), 869–890.
- Yang, C. & Lin, Y. D. (2008). BPMN-based business process model feasibility analysis: a petri net approach. *International Journal of Production Research*, 46(14), 3763–3781.
- Yao, X. & Lin, Y. (2015). Emerging manufacturing paradigm shifts for the incoming industrial revolution. *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 85, 1665-1676. doi: 10.1007/s00170-015-8076-0.
- Zabolotniaia, M., Cheng, Z., Dacko-Pikiewicz, Z. (2008) Influence of leadership style on employees' innovative activity, Polish Journal of Management Studies 20, 2019, 478–496.
- Závadský, J. (2010). *Systémový prístup k zvyšovaniu výkonnosti organizácie*. In Look Days 2010: international scientific conference, Hédervár.
- Závadská, Z. (2012). Teoretické aspekty procesne orientovaného systému riadenia podniku. In: *InLook Days 2012*. Kyjev: Ukrainian Academy of Sciences, 2012. p. 1–9.

- Závadská, Z. (2013). Audit of the process-based management system. *Výkonnosť podniku*. 3(1). 6–15.
- Závadský, J. & Droppa, M. (2013). Organisation maturity through consistency of its management system. In Advances In Management, 6(12), 1–8. Retrieved from http:// worldresearchjournals.com/mngmnt_backissue/vol(6)2013/dec2013.aspx.
- Závadský, J. & Hiadlovský, V. (2014). The consistency of performance management system based on attributes of performance indicator: an empirical study. *In Quality, innovation, prosperity, 18,* 93–106. doi: 10.12776/QIP.V18I1.314.
- Závadský, J. & Závadská, Z. (2014). Utilisation of business process models in managerial practice: An empirical study in Slovak companies certified to the ISO 9001 standard. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 24(3–4), 319–337.
- Závadská, Z., Závadský, J. & Veselovská, L. (2015). *Performance indicators of the logistic processes and its consistent definition in the selected manufacturing company*. In Carpathian Logistics Congress CLC 2015: proceedings of abstracts, Ostrava.
- Závadská, Z. & Závadský, J. (2018). Quality managers and their future expectations related to Industry 4.0: an empirical research. *Total Quality Managment and Business Excellence Journal*, 31(7–8), 717–714. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2018.1444474.
- Zonnenshain, A. & Kenett, R. S. (2020). Quality 4.0-the challenging future of quality engineering. *Quality Engineering*, 32(4), 614-626. https://doi.org/10.1080/08982112.201 9.1706744.



WSB University Cieplaka 1c 41-300 Dąbrowa Górnicza Poland